


BOC Aviation is a leading global 
aircraft leasing company with 
a portfolio of 250 owned and 
managed aircraft operated by  
60 airlines in 31 countries, with 
commitments to acquire 201 
aircraft, as of 31 December 2014. 
The Company has one of the 
youngest fleets in the industry 
with an average owned aircraft 
age of less than four years. 
BOC Aviation, owned by Bank 
of China, is based in Singapore 
with offices in Dublin, London, 
Seattle and Tianjin.



CHAIRMAN’S  
MESSAGE

2014 marked the eighth year of Bank of 
China’s ownership of BOC Aviation, and 
another year of rapid and sound growth 
for the company. In 2014, BOC Aviation’s 
assets rose 12% to US$11.4 billion as 
the fleet reached 250 aircraft for the 
first time, from 226 the year earlier. The 
company recorded a new record net 
profit after tax of US$308.6 million, an 
increase of 11% over the previous year. 

More importantly, as one of the top 
five aircraft leasing companies globally 
and as the largest aircraft leasing 
company based in Asia, BOC Aviation 
has played an important role in the 
internationalisation of Bank of 
China’s business.

In 2014, BOC Aviation extended its 
global reach. The company opened 
new subsidiaries in London, England 
and Tianjin, China, adding to offices in 
Dublin, Ireland and Seattle, USA, which 



further expanded its coverage and 
enhanced its strength of sustainable 
development.  By leveraging on 
Bank of China’s global network and 
working closely with the Group in 
such areas as marketing, co-sharing 
of resources and risk prevention, 
BOC Aviation together with the 
rest of Bank of China Group serves 
Fortune 500 companies in the aviation 
world such as Airbus, Boeing and GE.

BOC Aviation takes a serious view of good corporate governance. In 2014, the 
Board convened three meetings and discharged its oversight function with the 
support of four board committees. During the year, Ms. Zhu Lin, Deputy General 
Manager of BOC Risk Management Department, joined BOC Aviation as a 
member of the Board of Directors, and as a member of the Risk Committee.

In the coming years, the aviation industry will be gearing up for significant 
technological improvements amid rapid global economic change. Access to 
Bank of China’s financial strength and global reach will help support BOC 
Aviation when it needs to be nimble in this growth phase, to serve customers 
better and to make further contributions to achieving the Group’s corporate 
strategic goal of “shouldering social responsibility and being the best bank”. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors of BOC Aviation, I’d like to thank our 
customers and business partners for their ongoing support, and our shareholder, 
directors, management and employees for driving BOC Aviation’s continued 
success. Together with the rest of Bank of China Group, we are here to offer 
services that will take you further.

Chen Siqing
Chairman

BOC Aviation’s 
assets rose 12% to 
US$11.4 billion as 
the fleet reached 
250 aircraft for 
the first time.



陈四清
董事长

CHAIRMAN’S  
MESSAGE
2014年是中银航空租赁公司加入中
国银行集团的第八年，也是公司继续
保持快速健康发展的一年。2014年，
公司机队规模首次达到250架，总资
产突破114亿美元，分别比上年增长 
10% 和 12%。全年实现税后净利润
3.086亿美元，比上年增长11%，再创
历史新高。

过去一年，中银航空租赁公司作为亚
洲最大、全球前五的飞机租赁公司，
围绕中国银行集团战略目标，充分发
挥自身优势，在集团国际化、多元化
业务中发挥了重要作用。

过去一年，中银航空租赁公司在全球
业务布局方面取得新的进展。公司在
英国伦敦和中国天津成功开设了分公

司，业务拓展已经初见成效。
这些分公司与已有的爱尔兰都
柏林分公司、美国西雅图分公
司一起，进一步延伸了中银航
空租赁公司的覆盖区域和服
务范围，增强了公司持续发展
的力量。目前，中银航空租赁

公司紧密依托中国银行集团全球服务网
络，在客户营销、业务互介、资源共享、
风险防范等方面紧密合作，共同为空
客、波音、通用电气等航空业领域的全
球财富500强企业提供优质服务。
 
中银航空租赁高度重视公司治理。2014
年，董事会共召开三次会议，审议批准
公司经营管理重大事项。董事会下设四
个专业委员会，协助董事会高效履行职
责。2014年，中国银行风险管理部副总
经理朱林女士加入中银航空租赁董事
会，并担任风险委员会委员。

未来几年，航空业将在全球经济快速变
化的形势下迎接技术进步带来的机遇。
中银航空租赁公司将紧紧依托中国银行
集团的整体实力和全球布局，努力为客
户提供更加优质、高效的服务，积极抢
抓机遇，持续健康发展，为实现集团“担
当社会责任，做最好的银行”的战略目
标做出新的贡献。

借此机会，我代表中银航空租赁公司董
事会，衷心感谢广大客户和商业伙伴一
如既往的支持，衷心感谢公司股东、各
位董事、管理层成员以及全体员工的辛
勤工作。让我们齐心协力，共同开创中
银航空租赁公司更加美好的未来。

中银航空租赁：迎接发展



CEO’S MESSAGE
In 2014, BOC Aviation took a number of 
important strategic steps as we achieved 
another set of financial milestones and 
we positioned ourselves with a strong 
foundation for growth in the coming years. 

BOC Aviation posted another record year 
of net profit after tax in 2014, rising 11% 
to US$308.6 million as revenue rose 8% 
to US$988.4 million as compared to 2013. 
Total assets grew 12% to US$11.4 billion. 
Total equity improved to US$2.1 billion. The 
return on equity in 2014 was above 15%, an 
achievement to be proud of. 

We ended the year with a portfolio of 250 
aircraft, a new milestone as we celebrated 
21 years of operations, all profitable. As 
of 31 December, we owned 230 aircraft 
and managed another 20 in service with 
60 airlines in 31 countries worldwide. The 
portfolio is a fuel-efficient modern fleet 
principally comprising Airbus A320 family, 
Airbus A330, Boeing 737NG family and 
Boeing 777-300ER aircraft. Our owned fleet 
averages less than four years of age, one 
of the youngest in the industry. During 
the year, we took delivery of a record 57 
aircraft, new from the manufacturers, 
signed leases for 79 aircraft and added nine 
new customers. We actively managed our 
portfolio, and generated gains, by selling 33 
aircraft from our owned fleet in 2014.  

  
To position for future growth, we 
announced orders for 125 new aircraft 
for delivery until 2021. These included 
80 Boeing 737 aircraft and 43 Airbus 
A320 family aircraft, the most in-
demand narrow-body aircraft. These 
add to our significant scale, and 

The return  
on equity 
in 2014 was 
above 15%, an 
achievement 
all staff can 
be proud of. 



increased our order book to more than 200 aircraft, positioning us well to meet our 
customers’ needs, in an environment of rising air travel demand and with older, 
less efficient aircraft models expected to exit our customers’ fleets over the next 
seven years. The future demands operationally efficient, modern aircraft for a 
growing global air transport market.

BOC Aviation built its team strategically over the course of its 21-year history. 
The core management team has been together, and managed through multiple 
cycles, over the course of more than a decade.  In 2014, we made five major 
appointments, with Steven Townend, a 14-year veteran of BOC Aviation, moving 
to London to head our new subsidiary as Chief Commercial Officer for Europe, 
Americas and Africa; Chris Gao, a member of our Board of Directors since 
December 2006, taking up the role of Chief Commercial Officer for Asia Pacific 
and Middle East; David Walton joining us in the new position of Chief Operating 
Officer; Graham Lees, who has been with us for 13 years, becoming our Head of 
Aircraft Sales; and Nick Devall joining us as Head of Airline Leasing and Sales for 
Asia Pacific and Middle East. These key appointments set us up for the next stage 
of growth and position us to continue to deliver world-class fleet solutions for our 
customers and industry-leading returns for our shareholder.

At the end of 2014, we had 128 employees of 13 nationalities based in offices in 
Singapore, Europe and USA. We opened new subsidiaries in London, England 
and Tianjin, China to better reflect our global operations and be closer to our 
customers and financiers.

We raised more than US$2 billion in financing, including becoming the first global 
aircraft lessor to issue 10-year offshore RMB bonds. We issued for the first time 
Australian dollar denominated bonds.  We maintained our investment grade credit 
ratings from Fitch Ratings and Standard & Poor’s (S&P) in 2014, and in March 2015, 
S&P upgraded our corporate ratings from BBB to A-. We ended 2014 with US$367 
million in total cash and fixed deposits, and more than US$2 billion in unutilised 
committed credit facilities. We have an efficient capital structure with a net debt-
to-equity ratio of 3.8 : 1 at end-2014 and an average cost of debt of less than 2% 
in 2014.

BOC Aviation’s success through more than two decades of change and challenge 
is built on visionary leadership, innovation, attention to our customers, financial 
savvy, risk-awareness, discipline and above all, professionalism. We continue to 
strive to do better, and have laid down foundations for a new phase of growth. 
In this, I thank our employees, who once again in 2014 rose to the occasion and 
delivered record results.

Robert Martin
Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer



Robert Martin
Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

CEO’S MESSAGE
2014年，中银航空租赁实施了一系列重要的战
略举措，财务业绩再次取得里程碑式的表现，
为未来增长奠定了坚实基础。

中银航空租赁2014年全年税后净利润再创新
高，比2013年增长 11%至3.086亿美元，收入
增长8%至9.884亿美元。总资产增长12%达114
亿美元。总权益增长至21亿美元。2014年净资
产回报率超过15％，这一成绩令人自豪。

截至2014年年底，公司机队达到250架飞机，
创建了公司历史上又一新的里程碑。2014年，
公司持续经营21周年，每年保持盈利。截至12
月31日，公司旗下拥有230架飞机、代管20
架，机队服务于全球31个国家的60家航空公
司。公司机队由现代化的节能飞机组成，主要
包括空客A320系列、空客A330、波音737 
NG系列和波音777-300ER飞机。公司自有机
队平均机龄低于四年，是业内最年轻的机队之
一。2014年，公司接收的新飞机交付量打破以
往纪录，达到57架，并签署了78架飞机的新租
赁或租约展期协议，新增九家客户。2014年，
公司实施了积极的资产组合管理，销售了33架
自有飞机，为公司带来销售利润。

为了预备未来增长，公司订购了125架新飞机，
交付期直至2021年，其中包括80架波音737飞
机和43架空客A320系列飞机，这些都是目前
最受欢迎的窄体机型。公司规模进一步扩大，
现存订单量已逾200架，这在当前航空出行需
求不断上升，客户机队中的老旧、低效机型预计
在未来7年内将逐步淘汰的环境下，为公司更好

地满足客户需求创造了条
件。未来需要高效的现代化
飞机来支撑不断增长的全
球航空运输市场。

21年来，公司以战略性的方式组建员工团队。公
司的核心管理团队携手共进已逾十载，成功渡过
多个周期。2014年，公司进行了五项重要的人事
任命：Steven Townend先生，已为公司效力14
年，被派驻伦敦担任欧美非首席商务官，领导公
司新成立的伦敦子公司；高进跃先生，2006年
12月至今担任公司董事，现任亚太中东首席商务
官；David Walton先生加盟成为新的首席运营
官；Graham Lees先生，已为公司效力13年，现
任飞机销售部主管；以及Nick Devall先生加盟
成为亚太中东航空公司租赁及销售部主管。这些
重要的人事任命为公司迎接进一步发展、并继续
为客户提供世界级的机队服务方案以及为股东创
造业界领先回报打下了坚实的基础。 

截至2014年年底，公司共有128名来自13个不同
国家的员工，分别驻于新加坡、欧洲和美国。 
我们在英国伦敦和中国天津设立了新的子公司，
以更好地拓展全球业务、并更贴近客户和融资
机构。

2014年公司筹资超过20亿美元，成为全球首家
发行10年期离岸人民币债券的飞机租赁公司。
公司还发行了首笔澳元债券。2014年，我们保
持了惠誉和标准普尔（标普）授予的投资级信用
评级。2015年3月，标普将我司企业信用评级从
BBB级上调至A-级。2014年年底，公司的现金 
及固定存款总额达到3.67亿美元，未使用的已承
诺信贷额度超过20亿美元。公司建立起了高效的
资本结构，2014年年底净债务权益比为3.8:1， 
2014年债务融资的平均利息成本低于2%。

历经二十余载的变化和挑战，中银航空租赁如今
的成功源于公司拥有远见卓识的领导力、创新
力、客户至上的理念、丰富的财务经验、严谨的风
险意识、严密的纪律性，以及最重要的专业性。
我们将在现有的坚实基础上再接再厉，迎接新
的增长阶段。在此，我衷心感谢公司全体员工，
正是由于大家的共同努力，公司在2014年才得以
再创佳绩。

马锐博 
总经理兼首席执行官



2014 In review      

key appointments  
announced5

David Walton 
as Chief Operating Officer

Chris Gao 
as Chief Commercial 
Officer for Asia Pacific 
and Middle East

Steven Townend
as Chief Commercial Officer 
for Europe, Americas & Africa

Nick Devall
as Head of Airline Leasing 
& Sales for Asia Pacific and 
Middle East

Graham Lees
as Head of Aircraft Sales

38
2 1

aircraft  
sales

9
79 leases  

signed

NEW 
customers

Record
NEW  
owned 

 aircraft delivered
57

Transactions

230

Owned

Owned and Managed Fleet

Investment grade
credit ratings 
 

A-

A-
1

from  
Fitch

from 
Standard & 
Poor’s

&

Announced orders for

125 
new aircraft

43
Airbus A320
Family aircraft

50 737-8 MAX aircraft 
30 737-800NG aircraft
  2  777-300ER aircraft

Boeing aircraft 

36  A320 CEO aircraft
   7 A320 NEO aircraft
  

82

20

our presence with offices in 
Expanded 
Asia and Europe

Opened a China 
subsidiary in Tianjin 
in November 2014

Opened a London 
office in June 2014

250

Managed

1  Upgraded from BBB to A- on 19 March 2015
2  Total portfolio (owned and managed)



FINANCIAL  
HIGHLIGHTS 

All data as at 31 December of relevant year

+11% +9%

Net Profit After Tax (US$ million) Total Equity (US$ million)

2010 20102011 20112012

168
201

225

277

309

1,332
1,535

1,761

1,927

2,096

20122013 20132014 2014

+17% +12%

Lease Rental Income (US$ million) Total Assets (US$ million)

2010 20102011 20112012

519
590

662

804

937

6,638
7,586

9,076

10,181

11,403

20122013 20132014 2014



1     Average cost of debt is computed as Finance Expenses / Average Gross Debt
2    Owned aircraft with leases expiring in each calendar year, which are not yet committed for lease as at 31 December 2014; 
      percentages weighted by Net Book Value 
3    Fleet utilisation is the total days on-lease in the period as a percentage of total available lease days in the period

Return on Equity (%)

2010 2011 2012

14.6 14.0 13.7
15.0 15.3

2013 2014

2014 :  

15.3
2013 : 

15.0

Fleet Utilisation 3  (%)

Average Cost of Debt 1 (%)

2010 2011 2012

100.0 100.0 99.8 99.0 99.9

2013 2014

2014 :  

99.9
2013 : 

99.0

2010 2011

1.8 1.9 1.8 1.9 1.9

2012 2013 2014

2014 :  

1.9
2013 : 

1.9

Long-Term Contracted Leases 2

2015 2016

13

3.9%

0.0%

5.0% 6.3% 7.8%

13.4%

63.6%

16 20 18

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
and beyond

Average remaining lease term of 7.5 years Average fleet utilisation: 99.7%

63.6% expire beyond 2020

33 129



Distribution of Lease Rentals by Region 1

1    By contracted monthly lease rental income as at 31 December 2014

Europe

Americas

Greater China
(including HK SAR & Taiwan)

Middle East  
& Africa

Asia Pacific
(excluding Greater China)

24.7%

33.4%

21.0%
14.3%

6.6%

Globally 
diversified
revenue base



Number of owned aircraft 1

Number of aircraft committed for purchase 2

1    All data as at 31 December of relevant year
2    As at 31 December 2014, includes commitments under purchase and leaseback transactions

OWNED  
fleet summary

2010

Freighters 3 1 4 6 4

2011 2012 2013 2014

Airbus A320 family 63 71 82 86 103

Airbus A330 family 0 1 1 6 10

Boeing 737NG family 60 67 69 78 82

Boeing 737-400 1 1 0 0 0

Boeing 777-300ER 9 11 13 16 15

Boeing 777-300 4 4 4 4 2

Embraer E190 family 0 2 6 10 14

Aircraft on order

Orderbook

Airbus A320CEO family

Airbus A320NEO family

Boeing 737-8 MAX

Airbus A330 family

Boeing 777-300ER

Total aircraft

201

5
60

44

40 50

2
Boeing 737NG family

Total 140 158 179 206 230
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Management  
Team
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Chief Executive Officer

Chief Commercial Officer  
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Deputy Managing Director

Chief Operating Officer

Chief Commercial Officer  
(Asia Pacific & Middle East)

Deputy Managing Director &  
Chief Financial Officer

Robert  
Martin
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David 
Walton

Wang 
Genshan

Phang 
Thim Fatt

Chris Gao
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BOC AVIATION PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014 
 
 
 

-  1  - 

The Directors present their report to the member together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of BOC Aviation Pte. Ltd. (the "Company") and its subsidiary companies (collectively, the 
"Group") and the balance sheet of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2014. 
 
 
Directors 
 
The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are as follows: 
 
Chen Siqing Chairman 
Wang Genshan Vice-Chairman and Deputy Managing Director 
Robert James Martin Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 
Gao Jinyue   Director (Executive Director with effect from 5 December 2014) 
Fu Shula  Director 
Dr Xiao Wei   Director 
Liu Jiandong  Director 
Fang Yu Director  
Shi Jing Director 
Zhu Lin  Director 
 
 
Arrangements to enable Directors to acquire shares, options and debentures 
 
Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any 
arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the Directors of the Company 
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares, options and debentures of the Company 
or any other body corporate. 
 
 
Directors' interests in shares, options or debentures 
 
No Director who held office at the end of the financial year had, according to the register required to 
be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50, interest in shares of the 
Company or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year or at the end of the 
financial year. 
 
 
Directors' contractual benefits 
 
Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received or has become 
entitled to receive benefits by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation 
with the Director, or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the 
Director has a substantial financial interest. 
 
 
  



BOC AVIATION PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 
DIRECTORS' REPORT 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014 

Audit Committee 

The members of the Audit Committee at the date of this report are as follows: 

Dr XiaoWei 
Wang Genshan 
Shi Jing 

Chairman, non-executive member 
Executive member · 
Non-executive member 

The Audit Committee reviews the Company's statutory consolidated financial statements, and the 
Independent Auditor's Report thereon, with the auditors. 

The Audit Committee may examine any aspect of the Group's financial affairs it deems appropriate 
and also reviews the Group's internal controls over its internal and external exposures to risks 
including operational, credit, market, legal and regulatory risks. It will keep under review the Group's 
system of accounting and internal financial controls, for wh ich the Directors are responsible. 

The Audit Committee has full access to, and the co-operation of, the Group's management and has 
full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer to its meetings. The Deputy Managing Director 
and Chief Financial Officer, the Chief Accounting Officer and the Head of Internal Audit will attend 
meetings by invitation and the auditors will have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee. The 
Audit Committee has reasonable resources available to enable it to discharge its functions properly 
and may require the Company to appoint third parties to undertake independent audits of specific 
areas as it deems appropriate. 

Independent Auditor 

Ernst & Young LLP has expressed its willingness to accept reappointment as auditor. The 
appointment is subject to shareholder's approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors: 

Chen Siqing 
Director 

Robert James Martin 
Director 

Singapore 
6 March 2015 

- 2 -



BOC AVIATION PTE. L TO. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 
STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014 

We, Chen Siqing and Robert James Martin, being two of the Directors of BOC Aviation Pte. Ltd. , do 
hereby state that, in the opinion of the Directors, 

(i) the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity, and consolidated 
statement of cash flows together with notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2014 and the 
results of the business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year 
ended on that date, and 

(ii) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be 
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors: 

Chen Siqing 
Director 

WOZsc 
Robert James Martin 
Director 

Singapore 
6 March 2015 

- 3 -



BOC AVIATION PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

-  4  - 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBER OF BOC AVIATION PTE. LTD. 
 
 
 

Report on the Financial Statements 

 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of BOC Aviation Pte. Ltd. (the "Company") 
and its subsidiary companies (collectively, the "Group") set out on pages 6 to 80, which comprise the 
consolidated balance sheet of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company as at 31 December 
2014, consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement of the Group for the financial year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the "Act") and 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal 
accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against 
loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are 
recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance 
sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.  

 

Auditor's responsibility 

 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity's 
preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
 



BOC AVIATION PTE. L TO. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBER OF BOC AVIATION PTE. L TO. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the 
Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group 
and of the Company as at 31 December 2014 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of 
the Group for the financial year ended on that date. 

Other matter 

The financial statements of BOC Aviation Pte. Ltd . and its subsidiary companies for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2013, were audited by another auditor who expressed an unqualified 
opinion on those statements on 20 March 2014. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company 
and by those subsidiary companies incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have 
been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 

Ernst & Young LLP 

Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore 

6 March 2015 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014 
 
 
 
 Note 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
    
Revenues    
  
Lease rental income 4 936,916 804,112 
  
Interest and fee income 5 11,607 27,951 
  
Other income:    
  
- Net gain on sale of aircraft 6 30,291 76,471 
- Others  8,820 10,127 
  
Allowance for doubtful debts written back    
  
- Trade receivables 16 779 – 
- Other receivables 17 20 –     
  988,433 918,661 
Costs and expenses    
    
Depreciation of plant and equipment 12 381,247 336,346 
Marketing and travelling expenses  5,048 4,254 
Amortisation of deferred debt issue costs 7 14,546 14,635 
Amortisation of lease transaction closing costs 13 171 306 
Finance expenses 8 150,780 135,689 
Staff costs 9 51,230 40,654 
Other operating expenses 10 9,545 28,310 
Impairment of aircraft 12 23,100 42,800 
Bad debts written off  – 4,736 
    
  (635,667) (607,730)     
Profit before income tax  352,766 310,931 
    
Income tax expense 11 (44,192) (33,870)     
Profit for the year attributable to owner of the 
Company  308,574 277,061 

  
  
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014 
 
 
 
 Note 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
    
    
Profit net of tax  308,574 277,061 
    
Other comprehensive income:    
  
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to 
income statement    

  
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow 
hedges, net of tax 33 205 1,507     

Total comprehensive income   308,779 278,568 
  
  
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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BALANCE SHEETS  
As at 31 December 2014 

  Group Company 

  2014 2013 2014 2013 

 Note US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Non-current assets      
Plant and equipment 12 11,015,308 9,594,313 4,473,501 4,253,037 
Lease transaction closing costs 13 661 1,365 1,277 1,910 
Finance lease receivables from a 

subsidiary company 36 – – 71,002 77,054 
Derivative financial instruments 30 1,476 – 1,476 – 
Amounts due from subsidiary companies 14 – – 1,851,273 818,601 
Investments in subsidiary companies 15 – – 695,630 697,176 
Other non-current assets  – 7,313 – – 

  11,017,445 9,602,991 7,094,159 5,847,778 

Current assets      
Finance lease receivables from a 

subsidiary company  36 – – 6,052 5,717 
Trade receivables  16 4,783 55 65 41 
Prepayments  1,652 1,094 1,529 871 
Other receivables 17 11,677 38,401 9,008 4,808 
Derivative financial instruments 30 213 722 213 722 
Fixed deposits 18 212,204 455,435 113,948 387,035 
Cash and bank balances 19 155,200 82,727 105,614 20,241 

  385,729 578,434 236,429 419,435 

Total assets  11,403,174 10,181,425 7,330,588 6,267,213 

Current liabilities      
Derivative financial instruments 30 5,030 5,557 5,030 5,557 
Trade payables 20 40,147 42,248 18,186 21,201 
Other payables 21 64,634 129,955 54,518 91,112 
Income tax payables  94 614 – – 
Loans and borrowings 22 889,318 685,686 448,864 211,450 
Finance lease payables to subsidiary 

companies 24 – – 120,532 99,973 
Finance lease payables 25 8,776 6,585 8,776 6,585 
Security deposits 26 36,438 29,034 9,771 15,278 
Deferred asset value guarantee fees 28 – 30 – 30 

  1,044,437 899,709 665,677 451,186 

Net current liabilities  (658,708) (321,275) (429,248) (31,751) 

Non-current liabilities      
Derivative financial instruments 30 73,168 5,390 73,168 5,390
Loans and borrowings 22 7,272,301 6,569,412 3,941,054 3,103,275 
Finance lease payables to subsidiary 

companies 24 – – 880,928 1,001,435 
Finance lease payables 25 76,802 52,812 76,802 52,812 
Security deposits 26 177,107 164,136 117,202 109,838 
Deferred lease income 26 19,061 26,474 13,130 20,683 
Maintenance reserves 27 383,940 335,456 115,718 122,515 
Deferred income tax liabilities 29 219,953 175,368 32,135 25,384 
Other non-current liabilities 23 39,994 26,036 31,678 16,985 

  8,262,326 7,355,084 5,281,815 4,458,317 

Total liabilities  9,306,763 8,254,793 5,947,492 4,909,503 

Net assets  2,096,411 1,926,632 1,383,096 1,357,710 

Equity attributable to owner of the 
Company      

Share capital 32 607,601 607,601 607,601 607,601 
Revenue reserve  1,488,810 1,319,236 775,495 750,109 
Hedging reserve 33 – (205) – – 

Total equity  2,096,411 1,926,632 1,383,096 1,357,710 

Total equity and liabilities  11,403,174 10,181,425 7,330,588 6,267,213 

      

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014  
 
  Attributable to owner of the Company 
 
 

 

 
Note

Share 
capital 

US$'000 

Revenue 
reserve 
US$'000 

Hedging 
reserve 
US$'000 

Total equity 
US$'000 

2013      

Balance at 1 January 2013  607,601 1,155,175 (1,712) 1,761,064     
Profit net of tax   – 277,061 – 277,061 
Other comprehensive income  33 – – 1,507 1,507     
Total comprehensive income   – 277,061 1,507 278,568     
Dividend paid to owner 34 – (113,000) – (113,000)         
Balance at 31 December 2013  607,601 1,319,236 (205) 1,926,632     
      
2014      

Balance at 1 January 2014  607,601 1,319,236 (205) 1,926,632     
Profit net of tax   – 308,574 – 308,574 
Other comprehensive income  33 – – 205 205     
Total comprehensive income  – 308,574 205 308,779     
Dividend paid to owner 34 – (139,000) – (139,000)         
Balance at 31 December 2014  607,601 1,488,810 – 2,096,411     
      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014 
 
 Note 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
Cash flows from operating activities:    
  
Profit before income tax  352,766 310,931 
Adjustments for:    
Depreciation of plant and equipment 12 381,247 336,346 
Impairment of aircraft 12 23,100 42,800 
Amortisation of deferred debt issue costs 7 14,546 14,635 
Amortisation of lease transaction closing costs 13 171 306 
Net gain on sale of aircraft 6 (30,291) (76,471) 
Asset value guarantee fees recognised 5 (30) (84) 
Allowance for doubtful debts (trade) written back 16 (779) – 
Allowance for doubtful debts (non-trade) written back 17 (20) – 
Bad debts written off  – 4,736 
Interest income  (7,871) (21,234) 
Finance expenses 8 150,780 135,689     
Operating profit before working capital changes  883,619 747,654 
  
(Increase)/Decrease in receivables  (5,669) 16,295 
Decrease in finance lease receivables  – 17,440 
(Decrease)/Increase in payables  (23,545) 9,732 
Increase in maintenance reserves  84,375 79,597     
Cash generated from operations  938,780 870,718     
Security deposit received/(paid), net  12,962 (47,173) 
Lease transaction closing costs paid 13 (272) (1,062) 
Income tax (paid)/refund, net  (127) 29 
Interest income received  10,326 16,143     
Net cash provided by operating activities  961,669 838,655     
    
Cash flows from investing activities:    
  
Purchase of plant and equipment 12 (3,144,182) (2,502,588) 
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 6 1,315,861 913,303     
Net cash used in investing activities  (1,828,321) (1,589,285)     
    
Cash flows from financing activities:    
  
Proceeds from loans and borrowings  2,153,061 2,359,358 
Repayment of loans and borrowings  (1,155,185) (1,465,051) 
Finance expenses paid  (149,908) (135,180) 
Debt issue costs paid  (13,075) (21,154) 
Dividend paid  (139,000) (113,000) 
(Increase)/Decrease in cash and bank balances - 
encumbered  (98,326) 13,333     

Net cash provided by financing activities  597,567 638,306     
    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (269,085) (112,324) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  501,229 613,553     
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 31 232,144 501,229     
    

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. General information 
 
BOC Aviation Pte. Ltd. (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated and 
domiciled in Singapore. The immediate holding company is Sky Splendor Limited, which is 
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The intermediate holding company is Bank of China 
Limited, which is owned by Central Huijin Investment Ltd. The intermediate holding company 
and its parent company are incorporated in the People's Republic of China. 
 
The registered address of the Company is 8 Shenton Way, #18-01, Singapore 068811. 
 
The principal activities of the Company, which are conducted in Singapore, are the leasing 
of aircraft, management of aircraft leases and other related activities. The subsidiary 
companies are primarily engaged in the leasing of aircraft. The principal activities and place 
of business of each subsidiary company are disclosed in Note 15. 
 
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

2.1 Basis of preparation 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards ("FRS").The financial statements have been prepared on a historical 
cost convention except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. 
 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year except in the 
current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards which are effective 
for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. The adoption of these 
standards did not have any effect on the financial performance or position of the Group and 
the Company. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to 
exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where estimates and 
assumptions are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 3. 
 
 
Going concern assumption 
 
As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s and the Company’s current liabilities exceeded its 
current assets by US$658.7 million and US$429.2 million respectively (2013: US$321.3 
million and US$31.8 million respectively). The financial statements have been prepared on 
a going concern basis as the management is reasonably confident that the Group will have 
sufficient resources including committed rental cash flows and unutilised committed banking 
facilities for it to pay its debts as and when they fall due.  
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 

2.2 Standards issued but not yet effective 
 

The Group has not adopted the following standards that have been issued but not yet 
effective: 
 

Description 

Effective for annual 
periods beginning on 

or after 
  

Amendments to FRS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee 
Contributions  

1 July 2014  

  

Improvements to FRSs (January 2014)   

(a) Amendments to FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement 1 July 2014 

(b) Amendments to FRS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and 
FRS 38 Intangible Assets 

1 July 2014 

(c) Amendments to FRS 24 Related Party Disclosures 1 July 2014 

  

Improvements to FRSs (February 2014)   

(a) Amendments to FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement 1 July 2014 

  
The Directors expect that the adoption of the standards above will have no material impact 
on the financial statements in the period of initial application.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 
2.3 Basis of consolidation  

 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiary companies as at 31 December 2014. The financial statements of the subsidiary 
companies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for 
the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like 
transactions and events in similar circumstances. 
 
All significant intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses 
resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full. 
 
Subsidiary companies are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which 
the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control 
ceases. 
 

2.4 Functional and foreign currency 
 
(a) Functional and presentation currency 

 
Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entities operates 
(“functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in United States Dollar 
(USD or US$) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (US$'000) except 
when otherwise indicated. 
 

(b) Foreign currency transactions 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured at exchange rates approximating those 
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. 
Exchange differences arising from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities are 
taken to the income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the 
dates of the initial transactions.  
 
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating 
monetary items at the end of the reporting period are recognised in the income 
statement.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 

2.5 Plant and equipment 
 

(a) Aircraft 
 

Purchased aircraft on operating lease to airline operators are included under plant and 
equipment and initially recorded at cost. Such costs include borrowing costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of plant and equipment prior to delivery. 
Subsequent to recognition, purchased aircraft are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. Modifications and all other costs 
associated with placing the aircraft in service are capitalised. The cost of aircraft is stated 
net of manufacturers' credits. Expenditure for additions and improvements is capitalised. 
Expenditure for maintenance and repairs, unless drawn from maintenance reserves, is 
charged to the income statement. 

 
The Group accounts for aircraft leased as finance leases if the lease agreements give 
the Group rights approximating to ownership when the Group is the lessee. The assets 
are capitalised under plant and equipment as if they had been purchased outright at the 
inception of the lease term at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding lease commitment is included 
under liabilities. Lease payments consist of principal and interest elements and the 
interest is charged to the income statement. Depreciation on the relevant asset is 
charged to the income statement. 
 
The carrying values of aircraft are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable. 

 
(b) Progress payments 

 
Progress payments for aircraft under construction are recognised under plant and 
equipment when payments are made. 
 

(c) Other plant and equipment 
 
Other plant and equipment comprises office renovations, furniture and fittings and office 
equipment including computer hardware and software and are initially recognised at cost. 
Subsequent to recognition, these assets are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. Cost comprises purchase price and any 
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use. 
Expenditure for additions and improvements is capitalised. Expenditure for maintenance 
and repairs is charged to the income statement.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 

2.5 Plant and equipment (cont'd) 
 
(d) Depreciation 

 
Aircraft are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 25 years less aircraft’s age with 15% 
residual value at the end of 25th year for the first 12 years. The remaining value at the 
end of 12th year is depreciated using straight-line basis with no residual value over the 
remaining 13 years. 
 
Depreciation on other plant and equipment are calculated using the straight-line method 
to allocate the depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives. The estimated 
useful lives of these plant and equipment are as follows: 
 
Office renovations - 1 to 5 years 
Furniture and fittings and office equipment - 1 to 3 years 
  

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer 
in use. 
 
The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, as 
appropriate, at each year end to ensure that the amount, method and period of 
depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of plant and 
equipment. The effects of any revision are recognised in the income statement when the 
changes arise. 

 
(e) Disposal 

 
An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset is included in the income statement in the period the asset is 
derecognised. 
 
 

2.6 Lease transaction closing costs 
 
Upfront legal fees and all other initial direct costs incurred in procuring the lease for the 
aircraft are capitalised and amortised on a straight-line basis over the related lease period in 
the income statement. 
 
Where the lease agreement is terminated or transferred prior to its expiry date, the remaining 
lease transaction closing costs will be written off to the income statement. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 

2.7 Subsidiary Companies 
 
A subsidiary company is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an 
investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
 
In the Company's separate financial statements, investments in subsidiary companies are 
accounted for at cost less impairment losses. 
 
 

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may 
be impaired. If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount. 
 
An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal 
and its value-in-use and is determined for an individual asset. Where the carrying amount of 
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows 
expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market 
transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transactions can be identified, an 
appropriate valuation model is used. 
 
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether 
there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or 
may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset's recoverable 
amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment 
loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its 
recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such 
reversal is recognised in the income statement unless the asset is measured at revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 
2.9 Financial instruments 

 
(a) Financial assets 

 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 
 
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in 
the case of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable 
transaction costs. 
 
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised 
on the trade date i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in 
the marketplace concerned. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category “financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss”. Financial assets are classified as held 
for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This 
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that 
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships. 

 
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
are measured at fair value. Gains or losses on financial assets classified as fair 
value through profit or loss are recognised in the income statement. 

 
(ii) Loans and receivables 
 

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market are classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the 
income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, 
and through the amortisation process.  
 

 
Derecognition 
 
A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from 
the asset has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference 
between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any 
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is 
recognised in the income statement. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 

2.9 Financial instruments (cont'd) 
 

(b) Financial liabilities 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group 
determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 
 
Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus, in the case of other financial 
liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows: 
 
(i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held 
for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value. 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the 
purpose of selling in the near term. This category includes derivative financial 
instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging 
instruments in hedge relationships.  
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair 
value of the financial liabilities are recognised in the income statement. 

 
(ii) Other financial liabilities 

 
After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are 
recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised, and 
through the amortisation process. 
 

Derecognition 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged 
or cancelled or expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from 
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement. 

  



BOC AVIATION PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014  
 
 
 

-  19  - 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 

2.9 Financial instruments (cont'd) 
 

(c) Offsetting of financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the 
balance sheets, when and only when, there is a currently enforceable legal right to set 
off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 
 
 

2.10 Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence 
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 

 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses individually whether 
objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually 
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group 
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed 
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets 
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets 
that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or 
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at 
amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for 
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. The carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of loss is 
recognised in the income statement. 

 
When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is 
reduced directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged 
to the allowance account are written off against the carrying value of the financial asset. 

 
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets 
has been incurred, the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or 
significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised in the income statement to the extent that the carrying amount 
of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 

2.11 Trade and other receivables 
 
Trade and other receivables, including amounts due from subsidiary companies are 
classified and accounted for as loans and receivables under FRS 39. The accounting policies 
for this category of financial assets are stated in Note 2.9. Most of the trade receivables are 
received monthly in advance. An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective 
evidence that collection of full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off to the 
income statement as incurred. 

 
2.12 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of unencumbered fixed deposits and cash and bank 
balances that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 

2.13 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities 
 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as cross-currency interest rate swap, 
interest rate swap, interest rate cap and foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge its risks 
associated with foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations. Such derivative financial 
instruments are initially recognised at fair values on the date on which derivative contracts 
are entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair values. Derivative financial 
instruments are carried as assets when the fair values are positive and as liabilities when the 
fair values are negative. 
 
Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair values on derivative financial instruments 
that do not qualify for hedge accounting are taken to the income statement for the period. 

 
The fair values of cross-currency interest rate swap, interest rate swap, interest rate cap and 
foreign exchange forward contracts are determined by marked-to-market values provided by 
counterparties. 
 
The Group applies hedge accounting for certain hedging relationships which qualify for 
hedge accounting. 

 
For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as: 

 
(a) Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair values of a 

recognised asset or liability that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect the 
income statement; and 

 
(b) Cash flow hedges when hedging exposure to variability in cash flows that is either 

attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly 
probable forecast transaction and could affect the income statement. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 
2.13 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (cont'd) 

 
 
At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the 
hedge relationship to which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes 
identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk 
being hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging instrument's effectiveness in 
offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item's fair values or cash flows attributable 
to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting 
changes in fair values or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that 
they actually have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which 
they were designated. 
 
Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows: 
 
(a) Fair value hedges 

 
For fair value hedges, the carrying amount of the hedged item is adjusted for gains and 
losses attributable to the risk being hedged, the derivative is remeasured at fair value 
and gains and losses from both are taken to the income statement. 
 

(b) Cash flow hedges 
 
For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
is recognised directly in the hedging reserve, while the ineffective portion is recognised 
in the income statement. 
 
Amounts taken to hedging reserve are transferred to the income statement when the 
hedged transaction affects the income statement, such as when hedged financial income 
or financial expense is recognised or when a forecast sale or purchase occurs. Where 
the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or liability, the amounts taken to 
hedging reserve are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset 
or liability. 
 
If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognised 
in hedging reserve are transferred to the income statement. If the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its 
designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognised in hedging reserve 
remain in comprehensive income until the forecast transaction occurs. If the related 
transaction is not expected to occur, the amount is taken to the income statement. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 
2.14 Provisions 

 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.  
 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current 
best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be 
required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of 
money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

 
2.15 Maintenance reserves 

 
Normal maintenance and repairs, airframe and engine overhauls, and compliance with return 
conditions of the aircraft placed on operating leases are provided by and paid for by the 
lessees. Certain lease agreements require the lessees to make maintenance reserve 
contributions to the Group which subsequently can be drawn on to pay for certain 
maintenance events carried out. These maintenance reserve balances are accounted for as 
liabilities. Upon termination of the lease, any unutilised maintenance reserve balance will be 
released to the income statement or continued to be retained as reserves for drawdown by 
the follow-on operator. Upon sale of the aircraft, any unutilised maintenance reserve balance 
not transferred to buyer will be released to the income statement. Any shortfall identified in 
the balances held in respect of historic operation of the aircraft that are required to maintain 
the aircraft to the required standards by a follow-on operator are provided as a charge to the 
income statement. 
 

2.16 Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with 
the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying 
asset if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of that 
asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset 
for its intended use or sale are in progress, and the expenditure of the asset and borrowing 
costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially 
completed for their intended use or sale. The Group borrows to finance certain progress 
payments for aircraft under construction. The interest incurred on such borrowings is 
capitalised and included in the cost of the aircraft, except for the interest incurred for aircraft 
pre-delivery payments arising from lease commitment on which the Group earns income. 
Capitalisation of interest ceases when the aircraft is delivered. All other borrowing costs are 
expensed in the period they occur. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 
2.17 Debt issue costs 

 
Debt issue costs are costs incurred in connection with obtaining financing. These costs 
comprise primarily front-end fees, agency fees and legal fees. 
 
On initial recognition of a financial liability, debt issue costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the financial liability are included in the initial measurement of that liability. 
These costs are amortised over the related life of the debt using the effective interest rate 
method and written off upon prepayment of the financial liability, except for those debt issue 
costs relating to credit facilities which remain available for re-drawing after prepayment. 
 

2.18 Trade and other payables 
 
Liabilities for trade and other payables including payables to related parties, which are 
normally settled within 30-day credit terms, are initially carried at cost which is the fair value 
of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not 
billed to the company and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. 
 
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are 
derecognised as well as through the amortisation process. 
 

2.19 Employee benefits 
 
(a) Short term employee benefits 

 
All short term employee benefits, including accumulated compensated absences, are 
recognised in the income statement in the period in which the employees render their 
services to the Group. 
 

(b) Short term incentive plan 
 
The short term incentive plan (“STIP”) bonus is payable to employees of the Group when 
certain key performance indicator targets for each year are met and payment is to be 
made over a period. The bonus is accrued and recognised in the income statement in 
the period in which the employees render their services to the Group. Any over or under 
provision will be recognised in the income statement. 
 

(c) Long term incentive plan 
 
The long term incentive plan (“LTIP”) is payable to selected employees of the Group 
based on the achievement of certain key performance targets at the end of a pre-
determined period. 
 
Under the LTIP, the bonus pool is accrued and recognised in the income statement in 
the period in which the employees render their services to the Group. Any over or under 
provision will be recognised in the income statement. Payment of accrued bonus will be 
made over a period after each pre-determined period. 
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 

2.19 Employee benefits (cont'd) 
 

(d) Defined contribution plans 
 
As required by law, the Group makes contributions to the respective state pension 
schemes, the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) in Singapore, National Insurance in United 
Kingdom, Pay Related Social Insurance in Ireland and Federal Insurance Contributions 
in United States of America. These contributions are recognised as compensation 
expenses in the same period as the employment that give rise to the contribution. 

 
2.20 Leases 

 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the 
substance of the arrangement at inception date: whether fulfilment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to 
use the asset. 
 
(a) Where the Group or the Company is the lessee 

 
Finance leases, which effectively transfer to the Group or the Company substantially all 
the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the 
inception of the lease term at fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments and disclosed under Note 36. Any initial direct 
costs are also added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned 
between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
charged directly to the income statement.  
 
Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of 
the asset and the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain 
ownership of the leased asset by the end of the lease term. 
 
Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits of 
ownership during the lease term are classified as operating leases. Operating lease 
payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.  
 

(b) Where the Group or the Company is the lessor 
 
Finance leases, which effectively transfer to lessee substantially all the risks and benefits 
incidental to ownership of the leased term, are recognised at the inception of the lease 
term at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments and disclosed under Note 36. Lease receipts are apportioned between 
the finance income and reduction of the leased asset so as to achieve a constant rate 
on the remaining balance of asset.  
 
Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an 
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised 
over the lease term on the same bases as rental income. The accounting policy for rental 
income is set out in Note 2.21. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period 
in which they are earned. 

  



BOC AVIATION PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014  
 
 
 

-  25  - 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 

2.21 Revenue recognition  
 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value 
of consideration received or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, and sales taxes or 
duties. 
 
(a) Lease income 

 
The Company and certain of its subsidiary companies, as lessors, lease aircraft under 
operating leases. Lease income is recognised over the lease term as and when rentals 
become receivable under the provisions of the lease agreements. 
 
Operating leases with step rentals are recognised on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the initial lease, assuming no renewals. 
 
Lease income is not recognised if the collections are not probable due to prolonged 
financial difficulties of lessees. 
 

(b) Arrangement, remarketing and lease management fees 
 
Arrangement, remarketing and lease management fees are recognised as revenue upon 
rendering of services. 
 

(c) Dividend income 
 
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group’s right to receive 
payment is established. 
 

(d) Interest income 
 
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis unless collectability is in doubt. 
 

(e) Lease termination fees 
 
Lease termination fees are recognised based on contractual agreement with third parties 
to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 

2.22 Income Taxes 
 
(a) Current income tax 

 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the 
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the tax authorities. The tax rates and 
tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted 
at the balance sheet date, in the countries where the Group operates and generates 
taxable income. 
 
Current taxes are recognised in the income statement except to the extent that the tax 
relates to items recognised outside the income statement, either in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the 
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to 
interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 
 

(b) Deferred income tax 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the 
balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except: 
 
(i) where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor the taxable income 
statement; or 

 
(ii) in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary 

companies, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry 
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and 
the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except: 
 
(i) where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises 

from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit 
nor the taxable income statement; or 

 
(ii) in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in 

subsidiary companies, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilised. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 

2.22 Income Taxes (cont'd) 
 

(b) Deferred income tax (cont'd) 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised 
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are 
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow 
the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates 
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet 
date. 
 
Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside the income statement is recognised 
outside the income statement. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the 
underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity and 
deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on 
acquisition. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the 
deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same tax authority. 
 
 

2.23 Contingencies 
 
A contingent liability is: 
 
(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 

only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the Group; or 

 
(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because: 
 

(i) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation; or 

(ii) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 
 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will 
be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the Group. 
 
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, 
except for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present 
obligations and which the fair values can be reliably determined. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd) 
 

2.24 Related parties 
 
A related party is defined as follows: 
 
(a) A person or a close member of that person's family is related to the Group and Company 

if that person: 
 

(i) has control or joint control over the Company; 

(ii) has significant influence over the Company; or 

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or Company or of a 
parent of the Company. 

 
(b) An entity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following conditions 

applies: 
 
(i) the entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that 

each parent, subsidiary company and fellow subsidiary company is related to the 
others). 

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or 
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member). 

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of 
the third entity. 

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either 
the Company or an entity related to the Company. If the Company is itself such a 
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the Company; 

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); 

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member 
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 
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3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments  
 
The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, 
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of each 
reporting period. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability 
affected in the future periods. 

 
3.1 Judgments made in applying accounting policies 

 
Estimates, assumptions and judgments concerning the future and judgments are made in 
the preparation of the financial statements. They affect the application of the Group’s 
accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and 
disclosures made. They are assessed on an ongoing basis and are based on experience 
and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances at the time of valuation. 
 
The following are the judgments made by management in the process of applying the 
Group’s accounting policies that will have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. 
 
(a) Maintenance of aircraft by lessees 

 
Maintenance, repairs and overhaul of the aircraft placed on operating leases are 
provided by and paid for by the lessees. Certain lease agreements require the lessees 
to make contributions to the Group which can subsequently be drawn on for certain 
maintenance events carried out. Management has made a judgment based on payment 
records that as at period end, the lessees are able to fulfil their obligations as stipulated 
in the lease agreements. For any shortfall identified, a provision for aircraft maintenance 
will be charged to the income statement. 
 

(b) Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Group follows the guidance of FRS 39 in determining when a financial asset is other-
than-temporarily impaired and this requires significant judgment. The Group evaluates, 
among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of a financial asset 
is less than its cost. 
 

(c) Fair value of financial instruments 
 
Where the fair values of financial instruments recorded on the balance sheet cannot be 
derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques 
that include the use of valuation models by counterparties. The valuation of financial 
instruments is described in more detail in Note 38. 
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3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments (cont’d) 
 

3.1 Judgments made in applying accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(d) Classification of leases 

 
(i) Operating lease – As lessor 

 
The Group’s aircraft portfolio is on lease with various airlines. The Group has 
determined that it retains all significant risks and rewards of ownership of these 
aircraft which are leased out on operating leases. 
 

(ii) Finance lease– As lessor 
 
The Group has entered into aircraft leases whereby the Group has determined that 
the lessee has assumed all risks and rewards of ownership. Accordingly, the Group 
has recorded the transaction as a sale of aircraft and finance lease receivables on 
the balance sheet. 
 

(iii) Finance lease – As lessee 
 
The Group has entered into aircraft leases whereby the Group has determined that 
it has assumed all the risks and rewards of ownership. Accordingly, the Group has 
recorded these aircraft on the balance sheet. 
 

(e) Deferred income taxes 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiary companies to the extent that the Company is able to 
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. The Company is subject 
to Singapore tax on all of its foreign pre-tax earnings when earnings are effectively 
repatriated unless tax exemption is applicable. Significant management judgment is 
required to determine that the undistributed profits of the subsidiary companies and 
certain unremitted overseas income will not be distributed and remitted into Singapore 
in the foreseeable future respectively. The Company provides for taxes on the 
undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiary companies and overseas income except to 
the extent that such earnings are invested outside Singapore and likely to remain 
invested outside Singapore in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of 
temporary differences arising from potential Singapore tax exposure on undistributed 
earnings of foreign subsidiary companies and the overseas unremitted income was 
US$602.7 million (2013: US$542.1 million) as at 31 December 2014 for which deferred 
tax liabilities have not been recognised. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unabsorbed capital allowances and unutilised 
tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgment is required to 
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the 
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. 
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3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments (cont’d) 
 

3.1 Judgments made in applying accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

(e) Deferred income taxes (cont’d) 
 
The Company was granted a renewal of the concessionary tax rate of 5% with effect 
from 1 July 2012 under the 5-year Aircraft Leasing Scheme incentive by the Economic 
Development Board of Singapore. To qualify for 5 years of concessionary tax rate of 5%, 
the Company is required to achieve certain conditions within the 5-year period. 
Management is reasonably confident that the conditions can be met and is unaware of 
any reason that the extension of the enhanced concessionary rate after the expiry will 
not be considered. 
 
Details have been disclosed in Note 11 and Note 29. 

 
 
3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the end of the reporting period are discussed below. The Group based its assumptions 
and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. 
Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change 
due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such 
changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 
 
(a) Impairment of aircraft 

 
The Group follows the guidance of FRS 36 Impairment of Assets in determining whether 
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss on an aircraft. This determination 
requires estimation of the fair value less cost to sell and the value-in-use of an aircraft. 
To estimate the fair value, the management uses independent aircraft appraisers’ 
valuations which were derived based on certain assumptions. Estimating the value-in-
use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the 
lease and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value 
of those cash flows. Analysis of impairment loss provision is disclosed in Note 12 in the 
financial statements. 
 

(b) Depreciation of aircraft and estimation of residual values 
 
Aircraft are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 25 years less aircraft’s age with 15% 
residual value at the end of 25th year for the first 12 years. The remaining value at the 
end of 12th year is depreciated using straight-line basis with no residual value over the 
remaining 13 years. The management estimates the useful life to be 25 years based on 
the common life expectancies applied in the aircraft leasing industry. 
 
Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact 
the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets. Therefore, in these 
circumstances, future depreciation charges could be revised. A 4% difference in the 
expected useful lives of these assets from management’s estimates would result in 
approximately US$16.6 million (2013: US$13.6 million) variance in depreciation charges 
which could affect the Group’s annual profit before tax in future. 
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3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments (cont'd) 
 
3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont'd) 

 
(c) Fair values 

 
Fair values of the derivative financial instruments have been determined by marked-to-
market values provided by counterparties as disclosed in Note 30. 
 
Fair values of other financial instruments have been disclosed in Note 38. 
 

(d) Income taxes and deferred income taxes 
 
The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Estimation is 
involved in determining the Group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain 
transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax 
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, 
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the 
period in which such determination is made. 

      
        Details have been disclosed in Note 11 and Note 29.  
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4. Lease rental income 
 

  Group 
  2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
Lease rental income    
- Third parties  916,038 790,899 
- Related parties  20,878 13,213 
    
  936,916 804,112 
  
  
    

 
5. Interest and fee income 

  Group 
 Note 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
    
Interest and fee income    
- Finance leases  – 1,211 
- Fixed deposits and bank balances  2,983 3,048 
- Aircraft pre-delivery payments  4,393 16,029 
- Lease management fee  704 3,383 
- Remarketing fee  2,533 3,250 
- Asset value guarantee fee 28 30 84 
- Others  964 946 
    
  11,607 27,951 
  
  
    

 
6. Net gain on sale of aircraft 

  Group 
 Note 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
    
Sale of aircraft    
- Proceeds from sale of aircraft  1,315,861 913,303 
- Maintenance reserves released 27 35,891 45,745 
- Net book value of aircraft  (1,319,484) (880,642) 
- Expenses  (1,977) (1,935) 
    
  30,291 76,471 
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7. Amortisation of deferred debt issue costs 
  Group 

 Note 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
Arising from:    
- Loans and borrowings 22 14,491 14,605 
- Finance lease payables 25 55 30 
    
  14,546 14,635 
  
  
    

 
8. Finance expenses 

  Group 
  2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
Interest expense and other charges on:    
- Finance leases  995 781 
- Loans and borrowings  152,159 136,730 
    
  153,154 137,511 
Net fair value gain on derivative financial instruments  (2,374) (1,822) 
    
  150,780 135,689 
  
  
    

 
9. Staff costs 

  Group 
  2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
    
Salaries, bonuses and other staff costs  49,387 39,483 
Employer’s defined contribution benefits  1,843 1,171 
    
  51,230 40,654 
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10. Other operating expenses 
 
  Group 
  2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
    
General office expenses  3,531 2,695 
Operating lease expenses  2,383 1,432 
Technical service expenses  (1,665) 18,927 
Professional fees  4,748 5,175 
Others  548 81 
    
  9,545 28,310 
  
  
    

Technical services expenses include expenses or reversal of expenses for repair, 
maintenance and repossession of aircraft. 
 
 

11. Income tax expense 
 
(a) Major components of income tax expense 
 

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2014 
and 2013 are: 

 Group 
 2014 2013 

 US$'000 US$'000 
Current tax       
- Singapore (46) (94) 
- Foreign 
- Write-back of overprovision in prior years 

156 
(503) 

618 
–     

 (393) 524     
Deferred tax   
  
- Singapore 10,303 14,072 
- Foreign 37,834 25,665 
- Write-back of over provision in prior years (3,552) (6,391)     
 44,585 33,346 
    
 44,192 33,870 
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11. Income tax expense (cont'd) 
 
(b) Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit 
 

The reconciliations between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied 
by the applicable corporate tax rate for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013 
are as follows: 

 
  Group 
  2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
    
Profit before income tax  352,766 310,931 
  
  
Tax at domestic tax rate of 17% (2013: 17%)  59,970 52,858 
Adjustments:    
Different tax rates in other countries  7,661 3,558 
Effects of Aircraft Leasing Scheme incentive on 
Company’s results  (21,105) (20,221) 

Income not subject to tax  (773) (1,772) 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  2,895 5,631 
Others  (401) 207 
Write-back of over provision in prior years  (4,055) (6,391) 
    
  44,192 33,870 
  
    

 
 

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had unabsorbed capital allowances of 
approximately US$744.1 million (2013: US$849.9 million) and unutilised tax losses of 
approximately US$800.7 million (2013: US$775.5 million) which, subject to the 
provisions of relevant local tax legislation and subject to agreement with the relevant tax 
authorities, can be carried forward and set off against future taxable profit.  
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12. Plant and equipment 

 Aircraft 

Aircraft 
progress 
payments 

Office 
renovations 

Furniture and 
office 

equipment Total 
Group US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Cost:      
At 1 January 2013 8,642,699 885,086 126 5,058 9,532,969 
Additions 2,116,673 383,820 545 1,550 2,502,588 
Disposals (1,062,902) – – (73) (1,062,975) 
Transfers 801,169 (801,169) – – – 
Adjustments 280 – – – 280   
At 31 December 2013 and 1 January 2014 10,497,919 467,737 671 6,535 10,972,862 
Additions 1,984,074 1,158,015 327 1,766 3,144,182 
Disposals (1,664,200) – – – (1,664,200) 
Transfers 536,275 (536,275) – – – 
Adjustments 644 – – – 644   
At 31 December 2014 11,354,712 1,089,477 998 8,301 12,453,488   
Accumulated depreciation and impairment:      
At 1 January 2013 1,178,386 – 95 3,255 1,181,736 
Charge for the year 335,012 – 34 1,300 336,346 
Disposals (182,260) – – (73) (182,333) 
Impairment 42,800 – – – 42,800   
At 31 December 2013 and 1 January 2014 1,373,938 – 129 4,482 1,378,549 
Charge for the year 378,997 – 264 1,986 381,247 
Disposals (344,716) – – – (344,716) 
Impairment  23,100 – – – 23,100   
At 31 December 2014 1,431,319 – 393 6,468 1,438,180   
Net book value:      
At 31 December 2014 9,923,393 1,089,477 605 1,833 11,015,308 

At 31 December 2013 9,123,981 467,737 542 2,053 9,594,313 
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12. Plant and equipment (cont'd) 

 Aircraft 

Aircraft 
progress 
payments 

Office 
renovations 

Furniture and 
office 

equipment Total 
Company US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Cost:      
At 1 January 2013 3,926,546 363,284 126 5,034 4,294,990 
Additions 1,497,267 68,588 545 1,549 1,567,949 
Disposals (1,172,823) – – (67) (1,172,890) 
Transfers to subsidiary companies – (1,071) – – (1,071) 
Transfers 430,716 (430,716) – – –   
At 31 December 2013 and 1 January 2014 4,681,706 85 671 6,516 4,688,978 
Additions 982,800 15,822 297 1,715 1,000,634 
Disposals (716,146) – – – (716,146) 
Transfers to subsidiary companies – (1,582) – – (1,582) 
Adjustments 696 – – – 696   
At 31 December 2014 4,949,056 14,325 968 8,231 4,972,580   
Accumulated depreciation and impairment:      
At 1 January 2013 396,604 – 95 3,232 399,931 
Charge for the year 148,969 – 34 1,298 150,301 
Disposals (115,624) – – (67) (115,691) 
Impairment 1,400 – – – 1,400   
At 31 December 2013 and 1 January 2014 431,349 – 129 4,463 435,941 
Charge for the year 162,300 – 252 1,975 164,527 
Disposals (101,389) – – – (101,389)   
At 31 December 2014 492,260 – 381 6,438 499,079   
Net book value:      
At 31 December 2014 4,456,796 14,325 587 1,793 4,473,501 

At 31 December 2013 4,250,357 85 542 2,053 4,253,037 
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12. Plant and equipment (cont'd) 
 
(a) Impairment of assets 

 
Cumulative provision for impairment loss of the Group and the Company of US$57.5 
million and nil (2013: US$48.9 million and US$1.1 million) respectively is included in 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
 
The impairment loss represents the write-down of the aircraft book value to its 
recoverable amount of an individual aircraft as the cash-generating unit. The recoverable 
amount was determined based on the management’s best estimate of aircraft values 
from appraisers’ valuation or value-in-use or estimated selling prices based on signed 
letter of intent to sell the aircraft. The estimated future cash flows of the aircraft were 
discounted to their present value using pre-tax discount rate to calculate the value-in-
use. The discount rates ranged from 3.1% to 4.0% (2013: 2.4% to 2.7%) per annum.  
 
Analysis of impairment loss provision: 
 
  Group 
  2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
    
Balance at beginning of year  48,932 12,632 
Impairment of aircraft  23,100 42,800 
Disposal of aircraft  (14,500) (6,500) 
    
Balance at end of year  57,532 48,932 
  
  
    

 
(b) Assets held under finance leases 

 
The net book value of aircraft owned by the Group and Company held under finance 
lease arrangements amounted to US$104.7 million and US$1,502.3 million (2013: 
US$70.5 million and US$1,620.2 million) respectively. 

 
(c)  Assets pledged as security 

 
The net book value of aircraft owned by the Group and the Company, including aircraft 
held under finance lease arrangements in Note 12(b), that have been charged for loan 
facilities granted (Note 22 and Note 25) by way of mortgages and/or by way of a pledge 
by the Company of all its benefits in respect of its entire shareholding in certain subsidiary 
companies which hold titles to such aircraft (Note 15) amounted to US$7,516.7 million 
(2013: US$7,708.7 million) and US$3,654.9 million (2013: US$3,785.2 million) 
respectively. 

 
(d) Capitalisation of borrowing costs 

 
The capitalisation of aircraft cost during the year include borrowing costs arising from 
intercompany loans borrowed for the purpose of the aircraft progress payments. The 
borrowing costs capitalised as cost of aircraft amounted to US$1.4 million (2013: Nil). 
The rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was 
2.6% per annum.  
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13. Lease transaction closing costs 
 Group Company 

 2014 2013 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Cost:      
   
At beginning of year  2,619 1,759 3,197 3,609 
Additions  272 1,062 144 590 
Written off to income 
statement upon sale of 
aircraft 

 

(205) (211) (156) (1,021) 
Adjustments  (740) 34 (399) 44 
Written off upon fully 
amortised 

 
(817) (25) – (25) 

      
At end of year  1,129 2,619 2,786 3,197 
      
Accumulated 
amortisation: 

 
    

   
At beginning of year  1,254 1,116 1,287 1,182 
Charge for the year  171 306 338 447 
Written off to income 
statement upon sale of 
aircraft 

 

(140) (148) (115) (317) 
Adjustments  – 5 (1) – 
Written off upon fully 
amortised 

 
(817) (25) – (25) 

      
At end of year  468 1,254 1,509 1,287 
      
Net book value:      
   
At end of year  661 1,365 1,277 1,910       
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14. Amounts due from subsidiary companies 
 
The amounts due from subsidiary companies including interest bearing company loans are 
non-trade related and unsecured. They are not expected to be repaid within the next 12 
months. The amounts are repayable only when the cash flows of the borrower permits. 
Accordingly, the fair value of the amounts due from subsidiary companies cannot be 
determined as the timing of the future cash flows cannot be estimated reliably.  
 
As at 31 December 2014, a provision for impairment of US$4.8 million (2013: Nil) was made 
for loans due from certain subsidiary companies. 
 
 

15. Investments in subsidiary companies 
 
 Company 
 2014 2013 

 US$'000 US$'000 
   
Equity investments at cost:   
At beginning of year 697,176 601,132 
Additions 2,001 100,000 
Disposals (3,547) – 
Impairment – (3,956) 
    
At end of year 695,630 697,176 
  
  
   
Provision for impairment of investments in subsidiary 
companies:   

 
At beginning of year  3,956 – 
Charge for the year  – 3,956 
Written off during the year (3,956) – 
    
At end of year  – 3,956 
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15. Investment in subsidiary companies (cont'd) 
 
Details of the subsidiary companies are as follows: 

 

 Name 
Country of 

incorporation Principal activities 

Percentage 
of equity 

held by the 
Company 

    2014 2013 

    % % 
      

1 BOC Aviation (Ireland) Limited  Ireland Leasing of aircraft 100 100 
  
2 Stamford Leasing Limited Bermuda Dissolved – 100 
  
1 BOC Aviation (Labuan) Pte. Ltd. Malaysia Leasing of aircraft 100 100 
  
2 BOC Aviation (Bermuda) Limited Bermuda Holding of funds 100 100 
  
2 Quartet Two Limited Cayman Islands Dissolved – 100 
  
2 Quartet Three Limited Cayman Islands Dissolved – 100 
  
2 Quartet Four Limited Cayman Islands Dissolved – 100 
  

2,5 Emerald One Limited Cayman Islands Dormant 100 100 
  

2,5 Emerald Two Limited Cayman Islands Dormant 100 100 
  
1 BOC Aviation (USA) Corporation United States Leasing of aircraft 100 100 
  

1,5 Solitaire Capital Limited  Singapore Dormant 100 100   
2 Excalibur Express Limited Cayman Islands Dissolved – 100 
  

2,3 Bluebell Leasing Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100 
  
2 Avocet Leasing Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100 
  
2 Dolphin Leasing Limited Cayman Islands Dissolved – 100 
  
2 Emerald Three Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100 
  

2,3 Emerald Four Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100 
  
2 SALE Cayman (MP1) Limited Cayman Islands Dissolved – 100 
  

2,3,5 Nimue Leasing Limited  Cayman Islands Dormant 100 100   
2 Penguin Leasing Limited Cayman Islands Dissolved – 100   
2 SALE Cayman (VLE1) Limited Cayman Islands Dissolved – 100   
2 BOC Aviation (Cayman) Limited  Cayman Islands Acquisition of 

aircraft 
100 100 

  
2,3 SALE Cayman (35073) Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 SALE Cayman (VLE2) Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100 

  
2,3 SALE Cayman (35075) Limited  Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100 

      
2,3 SALE Cayman (35076) Limited  Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2,3 SALE Cayman (35077) Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100 
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15. Investment in subsidiary companies (cont'd) 
 
 

 Name 
Country of 

incorporation Principal activities 

Percentage of 
equity held 

by the 
Company 

    2014 2013 

    % % 
      
2 Yasashi Leasing Limited  Cayman Islands Dissolved – 100   

2,3 Acme Leasing One Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2,3 Acme Leasing Two Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2,3 Acme Leasing Three Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2,3 Echo Leasing One Limited Cayman Islands Dormant 100 100   
2,3 Echo Leasing Two Limited Cayman Islands Dormant 100 100   
2 Echo Leasing Three Limited Cayman Islands Dormant 100 100   
2 BOCA Leasing (Bermuda) 

Limited 
Bermuda Leasing of aircraft 100 100 

  
2 Echo Leasing Four Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 Echo Leasing Five Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 Echo Leasing Six Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 Echo Leasing Seven Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   

2,6 Vanda Leasing One Limited Cayman Islands Dissolved – 100   
2 Vanda Leasing Two Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   

2,8 Vanda Leasing Three Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 Vanda Leasing Four Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 Vanda Leasing Five Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 Vanda Leasing Six Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 Vanda Leasing Seven Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 Vanda Leasing Eight Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 Vanda Leasing Nine Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 Vanda Leasing Ten Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 Vanda Leasing Eleven 

Limited 
Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100 

  
2 Vanda Leasing Twelve 

Limited 
Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft 100 100 

  
1 BOC Aviation (UK) Limited England and 

Wales 
Leasing of aircraft 100 – 

   
2,7 BOC Aviation Leasing 

(Tianjin) Limited 
People’s Republic 
of China 

Leasing of aircraft 100  – 
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15. Investment in subsidiary companies (cont'd) 
 

 Name 
Country of 
incorporation Principal activities 

Percentage 
of equity 

held by the 
Company 

    2014 2013 

    % % 
      
 Deemed subsidiary companies*     
      

1,4 ARCU Aircraft Holdings Pte. Ltd. Singapore Investment holding – –   
1,4 Pacific Triangle Holdings Pte. Ltd. Singapore Investment holding – –   
2,4 ACME Lease Holdings LLC United States Leasing of aircraft – –   
2,4 Laylya Leasing LLC United States Leasing of aircraft – –   
2,4 Galahad Leasing Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft – –   
2,4 Guinevere Leasing Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft – –   
2,4 Sunshine Aircraft Leasing LLC United States Leasing of aircraft – –   
2,4 Gawain Leasing Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft – –   
2,4 Chilli Leasing LLC United States Leasing of aircraft – –   
2,4 Green Knight Leasing Limited Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft – – 

      
 Held by ARCU Aircraft Holdings 

Pte. Ltd.:
    

      
2,4 ARCU Aircraft Leasing Limited* Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft – – 

      
 Held by Pacific Triangle 

Holdings Pte. Ltd.: 
    

      
2,4 Pacific Triangle Leasing Limited* Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft – –   
2,4 Pacific Triangle Leasing 2 Limited* Cayman Islands Leasing of aircraft – – 

 
* The companies are deemed subsidiary companies of the Company as it has the power to 

govern the financial and operating policies of these companies so as to obtain benefits from 
the activities of these companies. These companies are set up for the purpose of facilitating 
the financing of acquisition of the Group’s aircraft. 
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15. Investment in subsidiary companies (cont'd) 
 

 Name 
Country of 
incorporation Principal activities 

Percentage 
of equity 

held by the 
Company 

    2014 2013 

    % % 
 Held by BOC Aviation 

(Ireland) Limited: 
    

      
2 BOC Aviation (France) SARL  France Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 BOC Aviation (France) 2 SARL  France Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 BOC Aviation (France) 3 SARL  France Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 BOC Aviation (France) 4 SARL  France Dormant 100 100   
2 BOC Aviation (France) 5 SARL  France Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 BOC Aviation (France) 6 SARL  France Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 BOC Aviation (France) 7 SARL  France Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 BOC Aviation (France) 8 SARL  France Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 BOC Aviation (France) 9 SARL France Leasing of aircraft 100 100   
2 BOC Aviation (France) 10 

SARL  
France Leasing of aircraft 100 100 

  
2 BOC Aviation (France) 11 

SARL  
France Leasing of aircraft 100 – 

      
 Held by BOC Aviation (USA) 

Corporation: 
    

      
2 Apex Leasing Corporation  United States Dissolved – 100   
2 Nexus Leasing Limited  United States Dissolved – 100   
2 BOC Aviation (Aruba) A.V.V.  Aruba Leasing of aircraft 100 100 
      
 Held by Solitaire Capital 

Limited:
    

      
2 Goldfinch Limited  Bermuda Dissolved – 100 
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15. Investment in subsidiary companies (cont'd) 
 

1 Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore or member firms of Ernst & Young. 
2 Not required to be audited by law in its country of incorporation, but included in the audit 

of consolidated financial statements of BOC Aviation Pte. Ltd. by Ernst & Young LLP. 
3 The Company has pledged all its benefits in respect of its entire shareholding in these 

subsidiary companies for loan facilities granted (Note 22 and Note 25). 
4 The shares or membership interest (as applicable) of these companies are pledged for 

loan facilities granted to certain companies within the Group. 
5 These companies are undergoing voluntary liquidation or dissolution subsequent to 31 

December 2014. 
6 During the year, the Group disposed its entire interest in Vanda Leasing One Limited. As 

the subsidiary company was set up as a special purpose vehicle to hold aircraft for 
leasing, the disposal has been accounted for as gain on sale of aircraft. Accordingly, the 
proceeds have been classified as “proceeds from sale of plant and equipment” in the 
consolidated statement of cash flows and the gain as “net gain on sale of aircraft” in the 
consolidated income statement. There was no net gain on the disposal of this subsidiary 
company.  

7 Subsequent to the 31 December 2014, the Company injected a capital of US$1.8 million 
to BOC Aviation Leasing (Tianjin) Limited. 

8 Subsequent to the 31 December 2014, the Company disposed its entire interest in Vanda 
Leasing Three Limited.  

 
 

16. Trade receivables 
 Group Company 

 2014 2013 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
      
Trade receivables 
(gross) 4,783 834 65 820 

Allowance for 
impairment – (779) – (779) 

      
Trade receivables (net) 4,783 55 65 41       
      

Trade receivables are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair 
values on initial recognition and are generally received monthly in advance. Overdue trade 
receivables bear interest at the various interest rates stipulated in the agreements. 
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16. Trade receivables (cont'd) 
 
As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s trade receivables (gross) arising from lease rentals 
amounting to US$4.1 million (2013: US$0.8 million) were fully secured by letters of credit 
issued and confirmed by banks of acceptable credit standing under the Group’s risk 
management policies.  
 
(a) Receivables that are past due but not impaired 

 
The Group has trade receivables amounting to US$4.1 million (2013: US$0.05 million) 
that are past due at the end of the reporting period but not impaired. These receivables 
are within the age bracket of 1 to 30 days (2013: 1 to 30 days). Subsequent to year end, 
these amounts have been received. 
 

(b) Trade receivables that are impaired 
 

There were no trade receivables that are impaired as at 31 December 2014. The 
movement in the allowance for impairment account is as follows: 

  Group Company 

  2014 2013 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
      
At beginning of 
year 

 
779 779 779 779 

Write-back during 
the year 

 
(779) – (779) – 

      
At end of year  – 779 – 779       
      

 
17. Other receivables 

 Group Company 

 2014 2013 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
      
Deposits 780 794 757 775 
Sundry receivables 1,260 25,535 99 195 
Accrued income 9,637 12,092 6,617 2,763 
Amounts due from 
subsidiary companies – – 1,535 1,095 

Allowance for 
impairment – (20) – (20) 

      
 11,677 38,401 9,008 4,808       
      

The amounts due from subsidiary companies are non-trade related, unsecured, interest free 
and are repayable on demand. 
 
Sundry receivables are non-interest bearing. They are recognised at costs which represent 
their fair values on initial recognition. 
 
Certain of the past due balances are secured by security deposits collected and recognised 
on the balance sheet or through letters of credit from banks. The unsecured amounts not 
collected, if any, have been fully provided for. 
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17. Other receivables (cont'd) 
 
Other receivables that are impaired 
 
There are no other receivables that are impaired as at 31 December 2014. The movement 
in the allowance for impairment accounts is as follows: 
 
 

 Group Company 
 2014 2013 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
      
At beginning of year 20 20 20 20 
Write-back during the 
year (20) – (20) – 

      
At end of year – 20 – 20       
      

 
18. Fixed deposits 

 

  Group Company 
 Note 2014 2013 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
      
Unencumbered 31 212,204 455,435 113,948 387,035       
      

All fixed deposits are denominated in United States Dollar. 
 

Short term deposits are placed for varying periods between one day and one month (2013: 
one day and two months) depending on cash requirements of the Group, and earned interest 
at the respective short term deposit rates. The weighted average effective interest rate for 
short term deposits was 0.7% (2013: 0.7%) per annum. 
 
As at 31 December 2014, fixed deposits placed with intermediate holding company 
amounted to US$101.5 million (2013: US$163.6 million) for the Group and US$76.5 million 
(2013: US$115.5 million) for the Company.  
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19. Cash and bank balances 
 

  Group Company 
 Note 2014 2013 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
      
Encumbered 22 135,260 36,933 97,936 4,669 
Unencumbered 31 19,940 45,794 7,678 15,572       
  155,200 82,727 105,614 20,241       
      

An amount of US$135.3 million (2013: US$36.9 million) and US$97.9 million (2013: US$4.7 
million) of the Group’s and Company’s cash and bank balances respectively have been 
pledged for loan obligations and contingency provisions under such obligations. 
 
The Group’s and Company’s cash and bank balances included an amount of US$4.5 million 
(2013: US$28.1 million) and US$3.1 million (2013: US$12.2 million) respectively, placed in 
daily sweep accounts which are available upon demand. 
 
Cash and bank balances of the Group earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank 
interest rates at an average of 0.01% (2013: 0.05%) per annum. 
 
Cash and bank balances were denominated in United States Dollar except for the following: 
 

 Group Company 
 2014 2013 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
      
Australian Dollar 236 247 – – 
Euro 733 688 441 499 
Japanese Yen 101 118 – – 
Sterling Pounds 623 – – – 
Singapore Dollar 2,500 2,134 2,500 2,134 
      
 4,193 3,187 2,941 2,633       
      

 
20. Trade payables 

 
Trade payables are substantially denominated in United States Dollar, non-interest bearing 
and are normally settled on 30-day credit terms. 
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21. Other payables 
 Group Company 

 2014 2013 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
      
Sundry payables 2,629 1,676 1,342 1,200 
Accrued interest 
expenses 29,486 26,948 22,465 17,315 

Other accruals and 
liabilities 32,519 101,331 26,879 69,445 

Amounts due to 
subsidiary companies  – – 3,832 3,152 

      
 64,634 129,955 54,518 91,112       
      

Other payables are substantially denominated in United State Dollar. 
 
The amounts due to subsidiary companies are non-trade related, unsecured, interest free 
and are repayable on demand. 
 
Sundry payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day credit terms. 
 
 

22. Loans and borrowings 

 Group Company 
 2014 2013 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Current:      
   
Medium Term Notes  59,971 63,967 59,971 63,967 
Fair value adjustments  (2,976) (415) (2,976) (415)       
  56,995 63,552 56,995 63,552    
USD bank loans  844,994 635,149 393,789 149,674 
Deferred debt issue 
costs  (12,671) (13,015) (1,920) (1,776)       

  889,318 685,686 448,864 211,450 
Non-current:            
Medium Term Notes  2,265,427 1,356,838 2,265,427 1,356,838 
Medium Term Notes 
discount (net of 
premium)  (3,268) (856) (3,268) (856) 

Fair value adjustments  (71,692) (5,390) (71,692) (5,390)       
  2,190,467 1,350,592 2,190,467 1,350,592    
USD bank loans  5,163,865 5,306,867 1,763,033 1,763,423 
Deferred debt issue 
costs  (82,031) (88,047) (12,446) (10,740)       

  7,272,301 6,569,412 3,941,054 3,103,275          
Total  8,161,619 7,255,098 4,389,918 3,314,725       
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22. Loans and borrowings (cont'd) 
 
The deferred debt issue costs relating to the obtaining of the term loans and notes are 
analysed as follows: 

 

  Group Company 
  2014 2013 2014 2013 

 Note US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
      
Cost:        
At beginning of year  141,808 125,985 19,513 16,478 
Additions  9,645 22,161 5,787 6,208 
Written off to income 
statement upon sale 
of aircraft  (3,837) (1,694) (813) (1,361)

Written off upon fully 
amortised  (7,002) (4,656) (1,859) (1,157)

Transfers  – – – (608)
Adjustments  (387) 12 (552) (47)    
At end of year  140,227 141,808 22,076 19,513     
Accumulated 
amortisation:        

At beginning of year  40,746 31,326 6,997 5,638 
Charge for the year   7 14,491 14,605 3,105 3,184 
Written off to income 
statement upon sale 
of aircraft  (2,710) (529) (533) (395)

Written off upon fully 
amortised  (7,002) (4,656) (1,859) (1,157)

Transfers  – – – (273)   
At end of year  45,525 40,746 7,710 6,997     
Net book value:        
At end of year  94,702 101,062 14,366 12,516     
Deferred debt issue 
costs, net  94,702 101,062 14,366 12,516 

Less: Current portion  (12,671) (13,015) (1,920) (1,776)    
Non-current portion  82,031 88,047 12,446 10,740     
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22. Loans and borrowings (cont'd) 
 
Total loans and borrowings included secured liabilities of US$5,744 million (2013: US$5,882 
million) and US$1,912 million (2013: US$1,873.1 million) for the Group and the Company 
respectively. These amounts are secured by the related aircraft (Note 12), certain cash and 
bank balances and designated bank accounts (Note 19) and/or a pledge of the shares in 
certain subsidiary companies (Note 15) that hold title to aircraft. 
 
In addition, the Company and certain subsidiary companies have provided negative pledges 
relating to all of these companies’ assets and revenues (other than any encumbrance in 
existence at the time the negative pledge is entered into or created subsequently to secure 
finance to acquire or re-finance any aircraft). 
 
(a) Bank loans 

 
Interest on floating rate bank loans of the Group is set at specified margins above USD 
LIBOR. Interest rate for floating rate bank loans is reset at intervals of up to six months 
and the weighted average interest rate was 1.7% (2013: 1.8%) per annum. The bank 
loans are repayable based on agreed repayment schedules, until the expiry date of the 
respective loans. The final maturities of the bank loans are between 2015 and 2026. 
 
As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s bank loans due to intermediate holding company 
amounted to US$495.4 million (2013: US$527.8 million). There were no outstanding 
drawings under two US$1 billion committed revolving credit facilities granted by the 
intermediate holding company. The first US$1 billion committed revolving credit facility 
matures on 28 December 2017 and the second US$1 billion committed revolving credit 
facility matures on 2 April 2019. Included in the Group’s bank loans was an amount of 
US$476.5 million (2013: US$628.7 million) due to related parties. 
 
As at 31 December 2014, the Company’s bank loans due to the intermediate holding 
company amounted to US$367.9 million (2013: US$392.9 million) and due to related 
parties amounted to US$353.2 million (2013: US$497.9 million). 
 
As at 31 December 2014, the Group had unutilised unsecured committed revolving credit 
facilities of US$2,250 million (2013: US$2,335 million) and committed long term credit 
facilities pending aircraft substitution of US$181.2 million (2013: US$123.9 million).  
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22. Loans and borrowings (cont'd) 
 
(b) Medium Term Notes 

 
The Company set up a US$300 million Multi-Currency Medium Term Note Programme 
(the “Programme”) on 2 September 2009. The Programme was increased to US$600 
million on 12 December 2011. The Group and the Company had fully repaid its last series 
outstanding notes of US$64 million in April 2014. 
 
The Company has also set up a US$2 billion Euro Medium Term Note Programme 
(“EMTN Programme”) on 20 September 2012.   The Programme was increased to US$5 
billion on 16 Apr 2014.  As at 31 December 2014, outstanding notes denominated in 
various currencies issued under the EMTN Programme for the Group and Company are: 
 

   

Outstanding 
amounts   

2014 

Amounts 
swapped to USD 
and floating rates

Currency 
Fixed Coupon Rate 

(p.a.) 
Maturity  
(Year) US$'000 US$'000 

     
Australian dollar 5.375% 2020 to 2021 373,492 373,492 
Chinese Yuan 4.2% to 5.5% 2018 to 2024 541,935 541,935 
Singapore dollar 2% 2015 59,971 59,971 
United States dollar 2.875% to 4.375% 2017 to 2023 1,350,000 300,000 

   2,325,398 1,275,398 

 

   

Outstanding 
amounts 

2013 

Amounts 
swapped to USD 
and floating rates

Currency 
Fixed Coupon Rate

(p.a.) 
Maturity 
 (Year) US$'000 US$'000 

     
Chinese Yuan 4.5% 2018 246,867 246,867 
Singapore dollar 2% 2015 59,971 59,971 
United States dollar 2.875% to 4.375%   2017 to 2023 1,050,000 – 

   1,356,838 306,838 

 
Fixed rate notes amounted to US$1,275.4 million (2013: US$306.8 million) have been 
swapped to floating rate liabilities and United States dollar (for non-USD denominated 
notes) via interest rate swap and cross-currency interest rate swap contracts. All notes 
are carried at fair value through profit and loss, classified under Level 2 of the fair value 
hierarchy, except for the fixed rate notes amounting to US$1,050 million (2013: 
US$1,050 million). The floating interest rate ranged from 1.7% to 2.7% (2013: 1.9% to 
2.7%) per annum. 
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23. Other non-current liabilities 
 
Included in other non-current liabilities are mainly non-current portion of bonuses payable 
and provided for under the staff incentive plans. These bonuses are payable over the years 
from 2016 to 2018 (2013: 2015 to 2017). 
 
 

24. Finance lease payables to subsidiary companies 
 
  Company 
                                                                          Note   2014 2013 

 US$'000 US$'000 
   
Current:     
Finance lease payables 125,415 104,859 
Deferred debt issue costs (4,883) (4,886) 
    
Finance lease payables, net 120,532 99,973 
    
   
Non-current:     
Finance lease payables 919,334 1,044,749 
Deferred debt issue costs (38,406) (43,314) 
    
Finance lease payables, net 880,928 1,001,435 
    
Total finance lease payables, net 1,001,460 1,101,408 
  
  
   

The scheduled repayment of the 
 finance lease payables is as follows: 
   
Finance lease payables                                   36(c)(i) 1,044,749 1,149,608 
Less: Current portion (125,415) (104,859) 
    
Non-current portion 919,334 1,044,749 
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24. Finance lease payables to subsidiary companies (cont'd) 
 
The finance lease payables to subsidiary companies of US$1,044.7 million (2013: 
US$1,149.6 million) are secured by a charge over leased assets (Note 12). Interest on the 
leases ranged from 0.4% to 1.5% per annum (2013: 0.4% to 1.7% per annum). 
 
The deferred debt issue costs relating to finance lease payables to subsidiary companies are 
analysed as follows: 
 
  Company 
  2014 2013 

 US$'000 US$'000 
   
Cost:     
At beginning of year 57,890 49,654 
Additions – 12,948 
Written off upon fully amortised – (2,126) 
Transfers – (2,577) 
Adjustments (29) (9) 
    
At end of year 57,861 57,890 
    
   
Accumulated amortisation:      
At beginning of year 9,690 7,978 
Charge for the year 4,882 4,558 
Written off upon fully amortised – (2,126) 
Transfers – (720) 
    
At end of year 14,572 9,690 
    
   
Net book value:      
At end of year 43,289 48,200 
  
  
Deferred debt issue costs, net 43,289 48,200 
Less: Current portion (4,883) (4,886) 
    
Non-current portion 38,406 43,314 
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25. Finance lease payables  
 
  Group and Company 
 Note 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
    
Current:      
Finance lease payables  8,845 6,615 
Deferred debt issue costs  (69) (30)
    
Finance lease payables, net  8,776 6,585 
    
    
Non-current:      
Finance lease payables  77,119 52,910 
Deferred debt issue costs  (317) (98)
    
Finance lease payables, net  76,802 52,812 
    
Total finance lease payables, net  85,578 59,397 
  
  
    
Finance lease payables     36(c)(i) 85,964 59,525 
Less: Current portion  (8,845) (6,615)
    
Non-current portion  77,119 52,910 
  
  
    

The finance lease payables are secured by a charge over the leased assets (Note 12). 
Interest on the leases ranged from 0.7% to 2.4% (2013: 0.8% to 2.7%) per annum. 
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25. Finance lease payables (cont'd) 
 
 
The deferred debt issue costs relating to finance lease payables are analysed as follows: 
 
 
  Group and Company
             Note 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
    
Cost:      
At beginning of year  191 191 
Additions  313 – 
    
At end of year  504 191 
    
    
Accumulated amortisation:       
At beginning of year  63 33 
Charge for the year        7 55 30 
    
At end of year  118 63 
    
    
Net book value:       
At end of year  386 128 
  
  
Deferred debt issue costs, net  386 128 
Less: Current portion  (69) (30)
    
Non-current portion  317 98 
  
  
    

 
26. Security deposits and deferred lease income 

 
The difference between the nominal value of the security deposits and its fair value is 
recorded as deferred lease income and is charged to the income statement on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. The security deposits are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. 
 
In addition to the cash security deposits recorded on the balance sheet, the security deposits 
received by the Group and the Company in the form of irrevocable letters of credit amounted 
to US$98.7 million (2013: US$110.5 million) and US$33.5 million (2013: US$28.8 million) 
respectively. 
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27. Maintenance reserves 
 

  Group Company
 Note 2014 2013 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
     
At beginning of year  335,456 301,604 122,515 110,550
Contributions  184,477 173,764 65,079 92,111
Utilisation  (13,344) (57,215) (7,616) (20,929)
Transfer to buyers  (86,124) (36,952) (41,514) (18,981)
Release to income 
statement for excess 
written off 

 

(634) – (634) –
Release to income 
statement upon sale 
of aircraft        

 
 

6 (35,891) (45,745) (22,112) (40,236)
    
At end of year  383,940 335,456 115,718 122,515    
      

Irrevocable letters of credit received by the Group and the Company from lessees to cover 
their maintenance reserve (or equivalent) obligations amounted to US$90.2 million (2013: 
US$58.7 million) and US$24.0 million (2013: US$24.0 million) respectively. 
 
 

28. Deferred asset value guarantee fees 
 

  Group and Company 
 Note 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
    
Cost:        
At beginning and end of year  3,464 3,464 
    
Accumulated amortisation:       
At beginning of year  (3,434) (3,350)
Release to income statement     5 (30) (84)
    
At end of year  (3,464) (3,434)
    
Net book value:       
At end of year  – 30 
  
  
Deferred debt issue costs, net  – 30 
Less: Current portion  – (30)
    
Non-current portion  – – 
  
  
    
 

  



BOC AVIATION PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014 
 
 

-  59  - 

29. Deferred income tax liabilities 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities at the balance sheet dates are as follows: 
 

 Group Company 

 2014 2013 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
      
Gross deferred tax 
liabilities 454,507 425,648 77,857 77,174 

Gross deferred tax 
assets (234,554) (250,280) (45,722) (51,790) 

      
Net deferred tax 
liabilities 219,953 175,368 32,135 25,384       

      
The unrecognised deferred tax liabilities are disclosed in Note 3.1(e). 
 
The movements in the Group’s and Company’s deferred tax liabilities and assets are as 
follows: 

     

 

Differences 
in 

depreciation 

Unremitted 
overseas 
income Others Total 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Group        
2014       
Deferred tax liabilities 
arising from:       

At beginning of year 420,809 4,570 269 425,648 
  
Charged/(Credited) to 
income statement 31,109 (2,045) (205) 28,859 

      
At end of year 451,918 2,525 64 454,507       
      

 

Unabsorbed 
capital 

allowances 
and 

unutilised tax 
losses Provisions Others Total 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Deferred tax assets 
arising from:       

At beginning of year (242,303) (3,792) (4,185) (250,280) 
  
Charged to income 
statement 14,108 1,355 263 15,726 

      
At end of year (228,195) (2,437) (3,922) (234,554)       
Net deferred tax 
liabilities      219,953       
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29. Deferred income tax liabilities (cont'd) 
 

 

Differences 
in 

depreciation 

Unremitted 
overseas 
income Others Total 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Group        
2013       
Deferred tax liabilities 
arising from:       

At beginning of year 375,735 392 624 376,751 
  
Charged/(Credited) to 
income statement 45,074 4,178 (355) 48,897 

      
At end of year 420,809 4,570 269 425,648       
      

 

Unabsorbed 
capital 

allowances 
and 

unutilised tax 
losses Provisions Others Total 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Deferred tax assets 
arising from:       

At beginning of year (227,198) (4,206) (3,325) (234,729) 
  
Charged/(Credited) to 
income statement (15,105) 414 (860) (15,551) 

      
At end of year (242,303) (3,792) (4,185) (250,280)       
Net deferred tax 
liabilities     175,368       
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29. Deferred income tax liabilities (cont'd) 
 

 

Differences 
in 

depreciation 

Unremitted 
overseas 
income Others Total 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Company        
2014       
Deferred tax liabilities 
arising from:       

At beginning of year 72,335 4,570 269 77,174 
  
Charged/(Credited) to 
income statement 2,933 (2,045) (205) 683 

      
At end of year 75,268 2,525 64 77,857       
      

 

Unabsorbed 
capital 

allowances 
and 

unutilised tax 
losses Provisions Others Total 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Deferred tax assets 
arising from:       

At beginning of year (48,606) (3,158) (26) (51,790) 
  
Charged/(Credited) to 
income statement 5,026 1,186 (144) 6,068 

      
At end of year (43,580) (1,972) (170) (45,722)       
Net deferred tax 
liabilities     32,135       
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29. Deferred income tax liabilities (cont'd) 
 

 

Differences 
in 

depreciation 

Unremitted 
overseas 
income Others Total 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Company        
2013       
Deferred tax liabilities 
arising from:       

At beginning of year 65,962 392 624 66,978 
  
Charged/(Credited) to 
income statement 6,373 4,178 (355) 10,196 

      
At end of year 72,335 4,570 269 77,174       
      

 

Unabsorbed 
capital 

allowances 
and 

unutilised tax 
losses Provisions Others Total 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Deferred tax assets 
arising from:       

At beginning of year (47,836) (2,821) – (50,657) 
  
Charged/(Credited) to 
income statement (770) (337) (26) (1,133) 

      
At end of year (48,606) (3,158) (26) (51,790)       
Net deferred tax 
liabilities     25,384       

      
      

The unabsorbed capital allowances and unutilised tax losses which are subject to the 
provisions of relevant local tax legislation and subject to agreement with the relevant tax 
authorities can be carried forward and set off against future taxable profits as disclosed in 
Note 11. 
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30. Derivative financial instruments 
 

 Group and Company 
 2014 2013 _________________________________ _________________________________

 

Outstanding 
notional 
amounts Assets Liabilities 

Outstanding 
notional 
amounts Assets Liabilities 

 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
       
Current:       

 
Cross-currency interest rate  

swaps 59,971 – (2,976) 63,967 – (415) 
Interest rate swaps  93,276 – (2,054) 145,276 – (5,142) 
Interest rate caps  470,205 213 – 697,761 722 –   
  213 (5,030)  722 (5,557)   
Non-current:       

 
Cross-currency interest rate 

swaps 915,427 – (73,168) 306,838 – (5,390) 
Interest rate swaps 300,000 1,476 – – – –   
  1,689 (78,198)  722 (10,947)   
       

The fair values of cross-currency interest rate swaps, interest rate swaps and interest rate caps shown above are determined by marked-to-market 
values provided by counterparties. The marked-to-market values obtained are determined by reference to market values for similar instruments. 
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30. Derivative financial instruments (cont'd)  
 
Hedge accounting has been applied for interest rate swaps that are assessed by the Group 
to be effective hedges. 
 
(a) Fair value hedges 

 
The Company uses interest rate swaps to hedge against changes in fair value of medium 
term notes, issued at a fixed coupon rate, from changes in interest rates. 
  
The Company issued US$300 million notes under its EMTN programme at a fixed 
coupon rate. As at 31 December 2014, the Company has interest rate swap contracts 
with a total notional amount of US$300 million to hedge the interest rate exposure 
whereby the Company receives fixed rate and pays floating rate pegged to USD LIBOR 
on the notional amount on a half yearly basis. The terms of the interest rate swap 
contracts have been negotiated to match the terms of the notes and accordingly, the fair 
value hedges are assessed to be highly effective. The fair value of the derivative financial 
asset was US$1.5 million as at 31 December 2014.   
 
There were no fair value hedges which applied hedge accounting as at 31 December 
2013. 

 
(b) Cash flow hedges 

 
The Company borrows at floating interest rates pegged to USD LIBOR. Interest rate risk 
exposure arises when the Company collects fixed rate rentals to pay interest accruing 
under the related borrowings at floating rates. 
 
There were no cash flow hedges which applied hedge accounting as at 31 December 
2014. 
 
As at 31 December 2013, the Company had an interest rate swap contract with a notional 
amount of US$24.2 million to hedge the interest rate exposure whereby the Company 
pays fixed rate and receives floating rate pegged to USD LIBOR on the notional amount 
on a half yearly basis.  The terms of the interest rate swap contracts had been negotiated 
to match the terms of the loans and accordingly, the cash flow hedges were assessed to 
be highly effective. The ineffective portion, if any, has been recognised in the income 
statement.  The fair value of the derivative financial liability was US$0.2 million.    
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31. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For the purpose of presenting the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents comprise the following: 
 
  Group 
 Note 2014 2013 

  US$’000 US$’000 
    
Fixed deposits 18 212,204 455,435 
Cash and bank balances 19 19,940 45,794 
    
  232,144 501,229 
  
  

 
 

32. Share capital 
 

 Group and Company 
 2014 2013 

  

No. of shares

'000 US$'000 

No. of shares 

'000 US$'000 
Issued and fully paid 
ordinary shares        

At 1 January/31 
December 589,909 607,601 589,909 607,601       

      
The holder of ordinary shares is entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the 
Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction. The ordinary 
shares have no par value. 
 
 

33. Hedging reserve 
 
Hedging reserve records the portion of the fair value changes on derivative financial 
instruments designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges that is determined to be 
an effective hedge. 
 

 Group Company 

 2014 2013 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
      
At beginning of year (205) (1,712) – (717) 
Net change in the 
reserve 205 1,507 – 717 

      
At end of year – (205) – –          
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34. Dividends 
 
During the year, the Company declared and paid a dividend of US$139 million to its sole 
shareholder (2013: US$113 million). 
 
 

35. Related party transactions 
 
In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following 
significant transactions took place between the Group and related parties at terms agreed 
between the parties: 
 
 Group 
 2014 2013 

 US$'000 US$'000 
Income and expense   
  
(a) Intermediate holding company:    
  
 Interest income 1,541 2,269 
 Interest expense (9,122) (9,339) 
  
  
   
(b) Other related parties:    
  
 Interest expense (10,753) (11,483) 
  
  
   

 
 Group 
 2014 2013 

 US$'000 US$'000 
Directors' and key executives' remuneration paid by 
the Company during the year   

  
(a) Directors of the Company:    
  
 Salary, fees, bonuses and other costs 7,332 6,806 
  
  
   
(b) Key executives (excluding executive Directors)   
  
 Salary, bonuses and other costs 6,235 9,611 
 CPF and other defined contributions 153 7 
    
 6,388 9,618
  
  
   
   

As at 31 December 2014, an amount of US$18.2 million (2013: US$19.9 million) of deferred 
bonus is payable to Directors and key executives of the Company in year 2015 to 2018 (2013: 
year 2014 to 2017) 
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36. Commitments 
 
(a) Operating lease commitments 

 
(i) Operating lease commitments - As lessor 

 
Aircraft 
 
The Group leases its aircraft under operating lease agreements that are non-
cancellable, which expire between 2015 and 2029 (2013: 2014 and 2028). 
 
Future net minimum lease receivables under the non-cancellable operating leases 
at the balance sheet date for existing aircraft are as follows: 

 

 Group Company 
 2014 2013 2014 2013 

 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
     
Within one year  959,757 870,403 423,893 384,468 
After one year 
but not more 
than five years 3,416,607 3,146,525 1,545,044 1,452,967 

After five years 2,761,994 2,532,504 1,356,142 1,289,520 
    
 7,138,358 6,549,432 3,325,079 3,126,955     
     

 
Future net minimum lease receivables committed as at balance sheet date for 
aircraft yet to be delivered are as follows: 
 

 Group Company 
 2014 2013 2014 2013 

 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
    
Within one year  55,646 78,696 35,569 28,529
After one year but 
not more than five 
years 1,002,921 755,576 511,219 238,762

After five years 1,835,795 1,193,995 905,268 360,491
    
 2,894,362 2,028,267 1,452,056 627,782    
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36. Commitments (cont’d) 
  
(a) Operating lease commitments (cont’d) 

 
(ii) Operating lease commitments - As lessee 

 
Offices 
 
The Group leases offices spaces under non-cancellable operating lease 
agreements. The leases have varying terms and renewal rights.  
 
Future minimum lease payments for the office leases with initial or remaining terms 
of one year or more are as follows: 
 

 Group Company 
 2014 2013 2014 2013 

 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
     
Within one year  2,029 2,091 1,878 1,959 
After one year but 
not more than five 
years 1,502 3,648 1,502 3,520 

    
 3,531 5,739 3,380 5,479     
     

 
 (b) Capital expenditure commitments 

 
As at 31 December 2014, the Group has committed to purchase various aircraft 
delivering between 2015 and 2021. The amount of commitment including assumed 
escalation to delivery, net of progress payments made to date, is approximately 
US$9,610.4 million (2013: US$4,919.2 million).  
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36. Commitments (cont'd) 
 
(c) Finance lease commitments 

 
(i) Finance lease commitments - As lessee 

 
The Company and certain of its subsidiary companies lease aircraft from third parties 
under finance leases. Title to aircraft will be transferred to the Company or its 
subsidiary companies upon the Company or its subsidiary companies discharging 
fully their respective obligations under the lease agreements. There are no 
restrictions placed upon the Company by entering into these leases. 
 

  

Minimum 
lease 

payments

Present 
value of 

payments  

Minimum 
lease 

payments 

Present 
value of 

payments  

 Note 2014 2014 2013 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Finance lease with third 
parties:      

  
Not later than one year  11,041 8,845 7,830 6,615 
Later than one year but 
not later than five years  60,195 54,633 55,858 52,910 

Later than five years  24,033 22,486 – – 
  
Total minimum lease 
payments  95,269 85,964 63,688 59,525 

Less: Amounts 
representing finance 
charges  (9,305) – (4,163) – 

  
Present value of minimum 
lease payments  25 85,964 85,964 59,525 59,525 

  
      

  

Minimum 
lease 

payments 

Present 
value of 

payments 

Minimum 
lease 

payments 

Present 
value of 

payments 
 Note 2014 2014 2013 2013 
  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Finance lease with its 
subsidiary companies:      

      
Not later than one year  154,939 125,415 168,602 104,859 
Later than one year but 
not later than five years  542,485 458,720 569,610 469,515 

Later than five years  492,801 460,614 621,700 575,234 
  
Total minimum lease 
payments  1,190,225 1,044,749 1,359,912 1,149,608 

Less: Amounts 
representing finance 
charges  (145,476) – (210,304) – 

  
Present value of minimum 
lease  24 1,044,749 1,044,749 1,149,608 1,149,608 
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36. Commitments (cont'd) 
 

(c) Finance lease commitments (cont'd) 
 
(ii) Finance lease commitments - As lessor 

 

 

Minimum 
lease 

payments

Present 
value of 

payments  

Minimum 
lease 

payments 

Present 
value of 

payments  

 2014 2014 2013 2013 

 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Finance lease with its 
subsidiary company:     

  
Not later than one year 8,314 6,052 8,417 5,717 
Later than one year but not later 
than five years 76,560 71,002 42,875 35,544 

Later than five years – – 42,494 41,510 
  
Total minimum lease payments 84,874 77,054 93,786 82,771 
Less: Amounts representing 
finance charges (7,820) – (11,015) – 

  
Present value of minimum lease 
payments  77,054 77,054 82,771 82,771 

  
     

 
 The scheduled receivables of the finance lease are as follows: 

 
         2014     2013 
  US$'000 US$'000 
    
Finance lease receivables  77,054 82,771 
Less: Current portion  (6,052) (5,717) 
    
Non-current portion  71,002 77,054 
  
  
    

 
37. Contingent liabilities 

  
Corporate guarantees for subsidiary companies 

 
The Company has provided corporate guarantees for certain loans extended to its subsidiary 
companies by the banks and for obligation under certain lease agreements entered into by 
the subsidiary companies. As at 31 December 2014, the corporate guarantees amounted to 
approximately US$3,852 million (2013: US$4,028.9 million). 
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38. Classification of financial instruments and their fair values 
 
The carrying amounts of each category of financial assets and financial liabilities, as defined 
in FRS 39, are disclosed either in the balance sheets or in the notes to the financial 
statements. 
 
Loans and receivables comprise amounts due from subsidiary companies (Note 14), finance 
lease receivables (Note 36), trade receivables (Note 16), other receivables (Note 17), fixed 
deposits and cash and bank balances (Note 18 and Note 19).  

 
As at 31 December 2014, the loans and receivables for the Group and Company were 
US$383.9 million (2013: US$576.6 million) and US$2,157 million (2013: US$1,313.5 million) 
respectively. 

 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise trade payables (Note 20), other 
payables (Note 21), loans and borrowings (except as disclosed in Note 22), finance lease 
payables to subsidiary companies (Note 24) and finance lease payables (Note 25). 
 
As at 31 December 2014, the financial liabilities measured at amortised cost for the Group 
and Company were US$7,302 million (2013: US$6,436.7 million) and US$4,499.7 million 
(2013: US$3,537.8 million) respectively. 
 
(a) Financial instruments carried at fair values 
 

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise derivative 
financial instruments (Note 30). 
 
The fair values of the derivative financial instruments are determined by reference to 
marked-to-market values provided by counterparties. The fair value measurement of all 
derivative financial instruments under the Group are classified under Level 2 of the fair 
value hierarchy, for which inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices) are 
included as inputs for the determination of fair value. 

 
(b) Financial instruments whose fair values cannot be reliably measured 

 
Amounts due from subsidiary companies are included in this category. The amounts will 
be derecognised where the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the subsidiary 
companies have ceased. 
 

(c) Financial instruments whose carrying amounts approximate fair values 
 
The carrying amounts of the different categories of financial instruments are disclosed 
on the face of the balance sheet and in Note 16 to Note 27 to the financial statements. 
 

(d) Financial instruments carried at other than fair values 
 
The following financial instruments of the Group and the Company are carried at other 
than fair values: 

 Group and Company 
 Carrying amounts Fair values 
 2014 2013 2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
      
Medium Term 
Notes 1,049,153 1,048,740 1,050,155 994,511       
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39. Financial risk management objectives and policies 
 
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity 
risk, credit risk and foreign exchange risk. The Group reviews and agrees policies for 
managing each of these risks. The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s 
and Company’s exposure to financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the 
management of these risks. 
 
There has been no significant change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the 
manner in which it manages and measures the risks. 
 
(a) Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from 
their loans and borrowings, finance lease payables to third parties and related parties, 
finance lease receivables from third parties and related parties, and lease rental income 
and expenses. 
 
The Group obtains financing through bank borrowings and capital market bond issues. 
The Group’s objective is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available on 
acceptable terms and conditions. 
 
A significant portion of the Group’s loans and borrowings and finance lease payables are 
contracted at floating interest rates pegged to USD LIBOR. Interest rate exposure arises 
when the Group collects fixed rate rentals but pays floating interest rate under the 
borrowings. 
 
A significant portion of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are based on floating 
interest rates pegged to USD LIBOR and are contractually repriced at intervals of less 
than 12 months (2013: less than 12 months) from the balance sheet date. 
 
The Group’s policy is to hedge at least 50% (2013: 50%) of its mismatched interest rate 
exposure through appropriate interest rate financial derivative instruments and obtaining 
loans or issuing bonds on a fixed rate basis. At the balance sheet date, the Group has 
hedged approximately 54% (2013: 96%) of the Group’s mismatched interest rate 
exposure. 

  



BOC AVIATION PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014 
 
 

-  73  - 

39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd) 
 
(a) Interest rate risk (cont'd) 
 

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk 
 
Sensitivity analysis is performed based on the following assumptions on the outstanding 
financial instruments of the Group at the balance sheet date: 
 
(i) Changes in interest rates affect the interest income or finance expenses of variable 

interest financial instruments which include floating rate loans and deposits. 
 
(ii) Changes in interest rates affect the fair values of derivative financial instruments. 
 
(iii) Changes in the fair values of derivative financial instruments and other financial 

assets and liabilities are estimated by discounting the future cash flows to net present 
values using appropriate market rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. 

 
For a more meaningful analysis on the impact of interest rate on the Group, the sensitivity 
analysis includes the effect of interest rate fluctuation on the lease rental income. 
 
Under these assumptions, an increase in interest rate of 10 basis points (2013: 10 basis 
points) or a decrease in interest rates of 10 basis points (2013: 10 basis points) for all 
currencies for which the Group has variable interest financial instruments at balance 
sheet date, with all other variables held constant, will have the following effect on the 
Group’s profit net of tax and the Group’s hedging reserve in equity. The assumed 
movement in basis points for interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on currently 
observable market environment. 
 

 
Group 

 Basis points 

Effect on 
profit net of 

tax 

Effect on 
hedging 

reserve in 
equity 

  US$'000 US$'000 
2014    
  
Increase in interest rate +10 (730) – 
Decrease in interest rate -10 1,198 –     
    
2013    
  
Increase in interest rate +10 375 1 
Decrease in interest rate -10 (502) –     
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39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd) 
 
(b) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting 
financial obligations due to a mismatch of assets and liabilities and/or due to refinancing 
risk. 
 
To ensure that the Group is able to meet its financial obligations, the Group’s policy is to 
have its loan repayments spread over substantial periods of up to 12 years, and also to 
have available committed credit facilities from banks. 
 
As at 31 December 2014, the Group had unutilised unsecured committed revolving credit 
facilities of US$2,250 million (2013: US$2,335 million). 
 
The Company also had committed long term revolving credit facilities pending the 
provision of a new replacement aircraft as collateral of US$181.2 million (2013: 
US$123.9 million). 
 
Revenue from lease rentals will be sufficient to meet annual interest and regular loan 
repayment over the next one year period. 
 
At the balance sheet date, approximately 11% (2013: 10%) of the Group’s gross debt, 
comprising loans and borrowings and finance lease payables, will mature in less than 
one year. 
 
 
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities 
 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's and the Company's 
financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on contractual 
undiscounted repayment obligations. 
 

 
One year 
or less 

One to five 
years 

Over five 
years Total 

 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Group 

    
2014 

    
Financial liabilities:     
Trade payables 40,147 – – 40,147 
Other payables 64,634 – – 64,634 
Loans and borrowings 904,965 4,795,850 2,633,442 8,334,257 
Estimated interest payments 158,083 459,258 154,570 771,911 
Finance lease payables 8,845 54,632 22,487 85,964 
Security deposits 36,438 112,722 83,446 232,606 
Estimated net swap 
payments 2,136 578 – 2,714 

Other non-current liabilities – 36,994 – 36,994     
Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities 1,215,248 5,460,034 2,893,945 9,569,227   
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39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd) 
 
(b) Liquidity risk (cont'd) 

 

 
One year 
or less 

One to five 
years 

Over five 
years Total 

 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Group 

    
2013 

    
Financial liabilities:     
Trade payables 42,248 – – 42,248 
Other payables 104,503 – – 104,503 
Loans and borrowings 699,116 3,026,627 3,637,078 7,362,821 
Estimated interest payments 141,003 432,113 168,481 741,597 
Finance lease payables 6,615 52,910 – 59,525 
Security deposits 29,034 107,012 83,598 219,644 
Estimated net swap 
payments 3,200 2,551 – 5,751 

Other non-current liabilities – 18,723 – 18,723     
Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities 1,025,719 3,639,936 3,889,157 8,554,812   

     
 

 
One year 
or less 

One to five 
years 

Over five 
years Total 

 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Company 

    
2014 

    
Financial liabilities:     
Trade payables 18,186 – – 18,186 
Other payables 54,518 – – 54,518 
Loans and borrowings 453,760 2,603,505 1,424,955 4,482,220 
Estimated interest payments 105,691 324,178 117,321 547,190 
Finance lease payables to 
subsidiary companies 125,415 458,720 460,614 1,044,749 

Finance lease payables 8,845 54,632 22,487 85,964 
Security deposits 9,771 74,995 55,337 140,103 
Estimated net swap 
payments 2,136 578 – 2,714 

Other non-current liabilities – 31,678 – 31,678     
Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities 778,322 3,548,286 2,080,714 6,407,322   

     
 

  



BOC AVIATION PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014 
 
 

-  76  - 

39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd) 
 
(b) Liquidity risk (cont'd) 

 

 
One year 
or less 

One to five 
years 

Over five 
years Total 

 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
Company 

    
2013 

    
Financial liabilities:     
Trade payables 21,201 – – 21,201 
Other payables 91,112 – – 91,112 
Loans and borrowings 213,641 1,583,782 1,536,479 3,333,902 
Estimated interest payments 82,839 270,387 130,739 483,965 
Finance lease payables to 
subsidiary companies 104,859 469,515 575,234 1,149,608 

Finance lease payables 6,615 52,910 – 59,525 
Security deposits 15,278 64,550 65,971 145,799 
Estimated net swap 
payments 3,200 2,551 – 5,751 

Other non-current liabilities – 16,985 – 16,985     
Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities 538,745 2,460,680 2,308,423 5,307,848   

     
 
Corporate guarantees for subsidiary companies 
 
The maximum amount of corporate guarantees provided by the Company to the  banks  
on  bank  loans  taken  up  by subsidiary  companies  as  at balance sheet date was 
US$3,852 million (2013: US$4,028.9 million). 
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39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd) 
 
(c) Credit risk  

 
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should 
a counterparty default on its obligations. 
 
The Group is exposed to credit risk in the carrying amounts of trade and other 
receivables, derivative financial instruments, fixed deposits and cash and bank balances. 
Typically, the Group’s leasing arrangements require lessees to pay rentals in advance 
and to provide security deposits and maintenance reserves. However, an early 
termination of a lease due to a credit event may expose the Group to consequential 
economic loss due to lower rentals being available from replacement lessees and also 
possible costs associated with repair and maintenance and transitioning of the aircraft to 
a new lessee. 
 
The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising credit losses. 
The Group undertakes credit appraisals on all potential lessees before entering into new 
leases and reviews the credit status of lessees annually. The Group also reviews the 
credit standing of vendors where significant and/or long term procurement contracts are 
being contemplated. 
 
The Group’s policy is to undertake deposit and derivatives business with reputable 
financial institutions which command an investment grade rating, typically not lower than 
the equivalent of Standard and Poor’s “A-”. 
 
(i) Exposure to credit risk 

 
At the balance sheet date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk is represented by: 
 
- the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the balance 

sheets, including derivatives with positive fair values; and 
 
- nominal amounts of approximately US$3,852.0 million (2013: US$4,028.9  

million) relating to corporate guarantees provided by the Company to the banks 
on bank loans taken up by subsidiary companies, and also in certain lease 
agreements entered into by subsidiary companies 
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39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd) 
 
(c) Credit risk (cont'd) 

 
(ii) Credit risk concentration profile 

 
The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring individual lessee 
and regional exposure to its trade receivables on an ongoing basis. The credit risk 
concentration profile of the Group’s trade receivables at the balance sheet date is as 
follows: 
 

 Group 

 2014 2013 

 US$'000 % of total US$'000 % of total 
By region:     
  
Europe and Africa 4,665 98 27 3 
China 38 – – – 
Asia Pacific 53 1 807 97 
USA 27 1 – –     
 4,783 100 834 100     
Less: Allowance 
for impairment –  (779)      

 4,783  55      
    

 
(iii) Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired 

 
Trade and other receivables and finance lease receivables that are neither past due 
nor impaired are creditworthy receivables with good payment records with the Group. 
Cash and cash equivalents and derivatives that are neither past due nor impaired 
are placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions or companies with 
high credit ratings. 

 
(iv) Financial assets that are either past due or impaired 

 
Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is 
disclosed in Note 16 and Note 17. 
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39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd) 
 
(d) Foreign currency risk  

 
The Group has transactional currency exposures mainly arising from its borrowings that 
are denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of the 
Group entities. 
 
Certain loans and borrowings which are denominated in Australian Dollar, Chinese Yuan 
and Singapore Dollar are swapped into United States Dollar. Foreign currency exposure 
arises when the Group collects United States Dollar rentals to repay the Australian Dollar 
or Chinese Yuan or Singapore Dollar borrowings. The Group primarily utilises cross-
currency interest rate swap contracts to hedge its Australian Dollar or Chinese Yuan or 
Singapore Dollar denominated financial liabilities. 
 
Accordingly, a movement in foreign currency exchange rate is not expected to have a 
material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 
 
 

40. Capital management 
 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maximises 
shareholder value given an optimal debt to equity structure. 
 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it after taking into account 
its capital expenditure and financing requirements. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Group may request for additional capital from the shareholder, adjust dividend payment 
to the shareholder or return capital to the shareholder. No changes were made in the 
objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 
2013. 
 
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is gross debt divided by total equity. 
The Group’s policy is to keep the gearing at less than 5 times (which is the limit imposed by 
the covenants of certain banking facilities). The gross debts comprise the Group’s loans and 
borrowings and finance lease payables. Total equity refers to the equity attributable to the 
owner of the Company. 
 
  Group 
  2014 2013 

  US$'000 US$'000 
    
Gross debt  8,420,221 7,422,346 
  
  
    
Total equity  2,096,411 1,926,632 
  
  
    
Gearing (times)  4.02 3.85 
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41. Comparative figures 
 
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 were audited by another firm 
of Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants.  
 
 

42. Authorisation of financial statements for issue 
 
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 were authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 6 March 2015. 
 
 






